UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A literature review

Kubenz, Vera; Kiwan, Dina

DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.33735.01446

License: None: All rights reserved

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Citation for published version (Harvard): Kubenz, V & Kiwan, D 2021, *The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A literature review.* https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.33735.01446

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

•Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.

•Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.

•User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?) •Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.





The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A literature review

Produced by Vera Kubenz and Dina Kiwan, University of Birmingham, as part of the GCRF Network+ "Disability Under Siege" project

February 2021







Contents



Acknowledgements	iv
Glossary	iv
1. Executive Summary	1
1.1. Overview	
1.2. Findings	
1.2.1. Health	1
1.2.2. Education	1
1.2.3. Economy	2
1.2.4. Community	2
1.2.5. Pandemic management	2
1.3. Conclusion	
2. Introduction	4
2.1. Context	
2.1.1. Disability in LMICs	4
2.1.2. Development interventions	5
2.1.3. Framing of disability	5
3. Methods	6
3.1. Search strategy	6
3.2. Selection and coding	
3.3 Distribution of literature	7
A Health	Q
4. Health introduction	o
4.2. Infection and mortality	
4.2.1. Increased risk	9
4.3. Prevention and hygiene	
4.3.1. Barriers to prevention	
4.3.2. Access to PPE and hygiene facilities	10
4.3.3. Prevention communication	
4.4. Treatment and rationing	
4.4.1. I riage protocols and healthcare rationing	
4.4.2. Access to treatment facilities	12
4.5. Essential non-covid-19 healthcare	
4.5.1. Routine and emergency care	
4.5.2. Management of conditions	14
4.5.4 Remote health services	15
4.6 Public health communications	15
4.6.1 Sources of information	1 3 15
4.6.2. Inaccessible communications	
4.6.3. Technological barriers	
4.6.4. Language and literacy barriers	





Disability Under Siege



4.6.5.	Messages	17	
4.6.6.	Good practice	18	
4.7. Me	ental Health		19
4.7.1.	Impact on disabled people's mental health	19	
4.7.2.	Impacting factors	19	
4.7.3.	Continuity of mental health services	20	
5. Educ	ation	21	
5.1. Ed	ucation introduction		21
5.2. Sc	nool closures		21
5.2.1.	Secondary functions of schools	22	
5.3. Ho	me and remote learning		22
5.3.1.	Impact on parents and caregivers	22	
5.3.2.	Distance learning	23	
5.3.3.	Barriers to remote learning	23	
5.3.4.	- Access to technology	24	
5.3.5.	Inaccessibility of technology	24	
5.4. Re	turn to school		25
5.4.1.	Drop-out rates	25	
5.4.2.	Attainment gaps	26	
5.4.3.	Discrimination and accessibility	26	
6. Econ	omy	27	
6.1. Ec	nomy introduction		27
6.2 Po	vertv		28
621	Increase in noverty	28	20
6.2.1.	Food poverty	20	
6.2.3.	Impacts of poverty.	29	
63 50	cial protection and support measures		30
631	Manning of social protection measures	30	50
6.3.2.	Types of assistance	30	
6.3.3.	Additional costs	31	
6.3.4.	Exclusion from support	31	
6.3.5.	Barriers to social protection	32	
6.3.6.	Distribution and access to relief	33	
6.4. En	ployment and work		33
6.4.1.	Informal employment	33	
6.4.2.	Unemployment	34	
6.4.3.	Telecommuting	35	
6.4.4.	Long-term impact	35	
6.4.5.	Unpaid and domestic work	36	
7. Com	nunity	37	
7.1. Co	mmunity introduction		37
7.2. Lo	ckdowns and physical distancing		38
7.2.1	Lockdowns		





Disability Under Siege



11.	Re	ferences	60	
10.	Со	nclusion and recommendations	59	
9.5.		Limitations		58
9.4.		Emerging theme 2 – 'medicalisation' of disability		57
9.3.		Emerging theme 1 – deprioritisation of disability		56
9.1	2.4.	Community	55	FC
9.	2.3. 2 1	Economy	55	
9.2	2.2.	Education	54	
9.2	2.1.	Health		
9.2.	_	Gaps		54
9.1.		rypes of evidence emerging		53
J.		Tupos of ovidence emerging		ГЭ
٥.2.	יח		52	
8.2		Data		51
8.3	1.1.	Consultation of disabled people		
8.1		Consideration of disabled people's needs		50
8.	Ра	ndemic management	50	
7.	7.5.	Access to reporting, support, and justice	49	
7.	7.4.	Discrimination and stigma	48	
7.	7.3.	Police violence	48	
7.	7.2.	Domestic, caregiver, and sexual violence	47	
7.	7.1.	Increase in violence	47	
7.7.		Violence and abuse		47
7.	6.4.	Good practice	47	
7.0	6.3.	Nutrition	46	
7.0	6.2.	Online shopping and delivery services		
7.0	6.1.	Access to shops	46	
7.6.		Access to food and medicine	-	46
7.	5.3.	IT infrastructure	45	
7.	5.2.	Built environment	45	
7.5	5.1.	Public transport	44	
7.5.	-	Transport and infrastructure		44
7.4	4.5.	Deinstitutionalisation	44	
7.4	4.5. ДД	Homelessness	43	
7.4	4.2. л २	Prisons	42	
7.4	4.1. 4.2	Care and residential institutions	41	
7.4.	1 1	Core and residential institutions		41
7.	5.5.	Assistive devices	41	11
7	3.2. 2 2		40	
7.:	3.1. 2.2	Personal assistance	40	
/.3.		Social care and independent living		40
7.2	2.2.	Physical distancing		
	~ ~		20	









Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the UNPRPD Partnership Advisory Board and the "Analytical Framework" Project Advisory Group for their input and comments throughout the writing of this literature review. They would also express their gratitude for the steer received from the UNPRPD, in particular Dr Ola Abu Al Ghaib, and to the AHRC for funding and support in carrying out this research.

Glossary

- **COVID-19** A new coronavirus disease caused by the virus SARS-CoV-2 first identified in December 2019 in China
- **DPO** Disabled People's Organisations
- EGM Evidence and Gap Map
- LMICs Low and Middle-Income Countries (as defined by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development)
- ICT Information and Communication Technologies
- LGBTQ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer
- NGO Non-Governmental Organisations
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
- PPE Personal Protective Equipment
- PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- SRH Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare
- UN United Nations
- UNCPRD United Nations Conventions on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
- UNICEF United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
- WAI Web Accessibility Initiative
- WHO World Health Organization









1. Executive Summary

1.1. Overview

This literature review examines the severe impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs), focussing on the sectors of Health, Education, Economy, and Community, as well considering the management of the pandemic generally. It highlights the significant discrimination disabled people have faced across all sectors of society: being deprioritised in healthcare, further excluded from education, facing significant poverty due to unemployment and a lack of social protection, and experiencing significant abuse and violence both in the community and in institutions. For many, these exclusions have been just as life-threatening as the pandemic. The report concludes that there is significant evidence that disabled people have been excluded and deprioritised from international and national government planning.

The literature review examined 113 texts consisting of 67 reports from non-governmental Organisations, UN agencies, governments, and Disabled People's Organisations, and 46 academic research papers, including 14 on the impact of previous disasters and pandemic on disabled people. Most of the literature identified focused on health and economy, while education was the least represented in the literature.

1.2. Findings

- 1.2.1. Health
- **Setting the scene:** Most LMICs have weak existing health infrastructure, which is often fragmented, disjointed, and not affordable
- Disabled people have been labelled as 'vulnerable' as a group based on their disability status, despite having differing levels of risk
- Disabled people face significant barriers to protection from COVID-19, including lack of access to hygiene and PPE, as a result of inaccessibility, poverty, and lack of guidance
- There has been significant discrimination in access to COVID-19 treatment, including inaccessible facilities and discriminatory triage protocols deprioritising disabled people
- Routine and emergency healthcare have been considerably interrupted, with disabilityspecific services classed as non-essential
- Health communications are not accessible, due to technology, language, and literacy barriers
- Language used in communications has 'othered' and dehumanised disabled people and added to psychological distress
- Mental health services have been disrupted, alongside a big rise in suicides and PTSD symptoms, exacerbated for disabled people by isolation, poverty, and fear of COVID-19

1.2.2. Education

- Setting the scene: Only half of disabled children were in school prior to COVID-19
- School closures in 188 countries disrupted both education and limited access to food programmes, hygiene facilities, safeguarding mechanisms, and healthcare and therapy









- Disabled children and their caregivers faced barriers to learning at home, including lack of knowledge and time among parents
- Access to technology and accessibility of technology were both significant barriers to remote learning
- There is a significant risk of many disabled children not returning to schools, and those who do face attainment gaps and potential further access barriers due to modifications in school

1.2.3. Economy

- Setting the scene: There is a strong link between disability and poverty, with only 1% of disabled people in LMICs having access to global protection
- The pandemic has caused a sharp increase in poverty, particularly food poverty, with many perceiving hunger as a bigger threat than COVID-19
- Social assistance measures were often short-term and not targeted at disabled people, sometimes actively excluding them, as well as being difficult to access
- Barriers to accessing relief included including lack of awareness and information, and inaccessibility of the claims process and distribution points
- Disabled people in informal or insecure work were particularly hard hit, due to lack of financial support and high unemployment, with remote working not an accessible option

1.2.4. Community

- Setting the scene: A lack of formal care support means support networks are often informal with care provided by family, friends, and the community
- Lockdowns and physical distancing measures led to disruption of care, increased isolation, and sometimes neglect and death
- Interruption of formal and informal care left disabled people unable to meet their essential needs or access assistive devices
- Significant evidence of neglect and human rights violations in institutions with an increased risk of infection and death, highlighting the urgent need for deinstitutionalisation
- Refugee camps, slums, prisons, and homeless people faced similar risks due to overcrowding, lack of hygiene facilities, and inhumane conditions
- Infrastructure barriers were heightened through lack of transport, an inaccessible built environment, and lack of access to information technology
- Access to essentials including food and medicine was interrupted
- A sharp increase in abuse, especially against disabled women and girls, including domestic and caregiver violence, police violence, and increased discrimination and stigma

1.2.5. Pandemic management

- Setting the scene: Previous literature has highlighted the importance of both considering and consulting disabled people in emergency and disaster planning
- Disabled people were not considered in most planning processes, and their needs deprioritised, leading to systematic exclusion and a disproportionate negative impact
- There is considerable lack of data on disability and COVID-19, making it difficult to quantify or take action to mitigate this impact







1.3. Conclusion

The literature review highlights the common themes emerging across all four sectors, in particular the deprioritisation and exclusion of disabled people, who have not been considered or involved in planning of measures taken to contain the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, disabled people have faced a considerable increase in access barriers. The review also highlights that there is still a pervasive view of disability as primarily a 'medical' issue and that there is a need for a more holistic approach to disability based in the social model, which recognises the interconnections between different societal systems, as well as the wider geo-political contexts in which disability is produced. Furthermore, there is a worrying lack of data being collected at national and international levels on impacts on disabled people, both in terms of infection and mortality rates, and the impact on poverty, employment, education, and isolation in the community.

This literature has highlighted a number of evidence gaps where further research is required, including on the long-term effects of COVID-19 on health and healthcare systems, the prioritisation of disabled people in vaccination programmes, evidence on school returns and tertiary education, empirical data on poverty and employment, the experience of disabled people in institutions, prisons, and refugee camps, and research in the impact on access to religious worship and practices, leisure, culture, and sport.

This literature review makes the following five key recommendations:

- Commissioning of further research into the gap areas identified in 9.2., with a particular focus on the long-term effects of COVID-19, vaccination processes, social protection available to disabled people, and collection of empirical data
- 2. Mapping of data currently being collected at national and international levels on disability COVID-19, who is collecting the data, and how it is used
- 3. Recognition and further research into the interconnectedness of different societal sectors and systems, and funding approaches aimed building long-term sustainable systems
- 4. Ongoing campaigns to de-stigmatise and de-medicalise disability and promote a social model, both in countries and in disability studies as a research field
- 5. Engagement of disabled people in contributing and leading on research, consultancy, and planning processes into a disability-inclusive recovery





Disability Under Siege



2. Introduction

This literature review examines the impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs). The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic on 11 March 2020. At the time of writing in February 2021, over 2.3 million deaths from COVID-19 had been reported (Dong et al., 2020). Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus including lockdowns, closures of schools and workplaces, and pausing of healthcare services deemed non-essential, caused significant disruptions for people across the globe. This has led to the outbreak being described as a 'triple pandemic', being a health, psychological, and socioeconomic pandemic (UNDRR, 2020). However, for disabled people, this disruption was often heightened and the evidence compiled in this literature review suggests that the pandemic has exacerbated the marginalisation and exclusion of disabled people, including lower socioeconomic status, lower rates of employment, lower overall health status, and higher rates of poverty (Smith et al., 2020). Goggin (2020) highlights that while there were some cultural differences between countries, the majority of issues faced by disabled people were shared across the globe, highlighting in particular medical ableism, the cost of living, and the importance of communication. This literature review will highlight the specific issues faced by disabled people in general management of the pandemic by governments and specifically across the sectors of Health, Education, Economy, and Community, as described in emerging empirical literature, as well as in 'grey literature' including from governments, United Nations (UN) agencies, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), and Disabled People's Organisations (DPOs). It will also provide a critical view of the existing evidence from a critical disability studies perspective, and will indicate current gaps to inform further research and data-gathering.

2.1. Context

2.1.1. Disability in LMICs

It is estimated that 15% or one billion people globally are disabled, and that 80% of these live in developing countries (United Nations, 2020b). The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) defines disabled people as "those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others" (United Nations). Despite the ratification of the UNCRPD by 182 countries, most disabled people remain disadvantaged with many facing significant barriers around the built environment, health, education, employment, and poverty (Shakespeare, 2019). Persistent stigma against disabled people leads to some unable to identify or describe themselves as disabled (Berghs, 2015b), and for many disabled people, impairment is created or compounded by the endurance of conflict (Berghs, 2015b, Pineda and Corburn, 2020) or disasters (Battle, 2015). However, disasters and emergencies can sometimes act as a catalyst to drive forward progress in the aftermath (Pakjouei et al., 2020) and to 'build back better' (UNDRR, 2020).









2.1.2. Development interventions

Development programmes have often overlooked or ignored disability in initiatives (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, Clugston and Spearing, 2020), with only 5% of direct overseas aid dedicated to disability programmes (Shakespeare, 2019). Some progress has been made since the inclusion of disability in the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals, after disability was completely absent in the preceding Millennium Development Goals (Shakespeare, 2019, Görgens and Ziervogel, 2018). However, as development funding is often limited, there is often a focus on 'quick fixes' over more complex long-term interventions (Shakespeare, 2019), leading to a fragmented approach with a lack of forward planning (Berghs, 2015a). Berghs (2015b) highlights that development initiatives can perpetuate disabling conditions, and advocates for an 'inside-out' approach to promote emancipation and rethinking of political and economic roles, as well as an 'outside-in' to understand the broader geopolitical influences that contribute to disablement in the Global South. This is replicated in research, where a meta-analysis of studies on development interventions found that research papers are unevenly distributed, with most being focused on health interventions and using a medical model of disability lens, and lack of studies in rights - based approaches, livelihoods and empowerment (Saran et al., 2020).

2.1.3. Framing of disability

One aspects of disability being regarded as an individual medical problem to be fixed is the uncritical framing of disabled people as inherently 'vulnerable', without recognising the contributing factors that put disabled people more at risk during a disaster or emergency (Abbott and Porter, 2013, Görgens and Ziervogel, 2018). Even in academic literature, disabled people continue to be defined in terms of their deviation from 'normalcy' and their needs described as 'special' (Krishnan et al., 2020). As Abbott & Potter (2013) put it, "in an emergency, being special is not only not a good thing, it can actually be deadly". It is therefore crucial to recognise the factors that put disabled people at higher risk in an emergency or disaster situation, including poverty, accessibility of information, the design of the built environment and prejudicial, structural attitudes towards disabled people (Abbott and Porter, 2013), and particularly in the Global South, the colonial and post-colonial inequalities that lead to the causes of conflict and disablement (Berghs, 2015b).









3. Methods

3.1. Search strategy

The literature review used the principles of a systematic literature review to identify and analyse emerging evidence on disability and COVID-19 and other emergencies and disasters in LMICs, and particularly those countries. This involved mapping out of subthemes and associated search terms across the four sectors of Health, Education, Economy, and Community. Additional search terms related to previous pandemics, epidemics, or disasters. In order to identify relevant peer reviewed published literature, these search terms were combined using Boolean operators and searches were carried out across eight social science databases (Web of science (Core Collection), Ovid – Social Policy & Practice, ProQuest - Social Science Premium Collection, Science Direct – Public Health and The Lancet Public Health, EBSCO Education Databases, SCOPUS, Taylor & Francis Online, SSRN). This included both backwards and forwards citation searching to identify other relevant literature.

Grey literature reports from governments, UN agencies, NGOs, and DPOs were identified through a number of routes. Some were identified through citations in academic literature. In addition, searches were carried out using Google Scholar, the UN official document system, and Google searches by country domain to identify country-specific reports and guidance. In addition, searches were carried out to identify NGO and DPO websites where relevant reports had been published and collated. Searches were carried out between the period of 14 September 2020 to 14 October 2020. Search alerts were set up for the research databases to identify any new relevant reports emerging after the search, and these were added to the sample where they provided new or additional evidence.

3.2. Selection and coding

The initial search process produced 893 potentially relevant results, which were subjected to a lighttouch review to select articles using the following criteria:

- 1) Focus was on disabled people, as defined by the UNCRPD, rather than caregivers/family members, and examining disability from a social science, rather than a medical, viewpoint
- 2) Disability was a major focus (ie 5 or more mentions of the words "disabled" or "disability")
- 3) Focus on disability in LMICs, or globally (papers focusing on situations specific to OECD countries were excluded)
- 4) Academic articles were original research or review articles (exclusion of comment/opinion pieces)
- 5) 'Grey literature' reported on actual data (rather than guidance or recommendations)

Following this selection process, 113 were selected for close review. Articles were reviewed in detail over a two-month period (October – December 2020). Notes were coded and grouped thematically to identify recurring issues and concerns across the four sections. As a number of articles focussed on the lack of consideration for disabled people in pandemic management generally, a short fifth









section discussing this was added to the existing four sections on Health, Education, Economy, and Community.

3.3. Distribution of literature

Out of the 113 articles reviewed, 99 articles related to COVID-19, with only 14 focussing on other disasters or emergencies. 'Grey' literature represented the majority of the literature reviewed with 67 out of 113 articles. Out of these 67, most were by NGOs (31) or UN-affiliated agencies (19). Other sources included DPOs and government agencies (6 articles each), financial organisations (2), and a not peer-reviewed academic report (1). The 46 academic texts included the 14 texts related to other emergencies, with 32 papers focussing on COVID-19.

Articles covered in the reviewed were published between March and November 2020. Most of the identified literature on COVID-19 emerged early during the pandemic, with almost two thirds (64%) published between March and June 2020. This is particularly the case for grey literature, whereas the publication of academic peer-reviewed literature was more evenly distributed across the 9 months of the review.

As most papers and reports covered multiple topics across the four sectors, up to three of the most prevalent subtopics of each paper were recorded. This indicates that topics are not evenly distributed, with healthcare being by far the most common theme (63 out of 113), followed by 54 on Economy, 38 on Community, and 18 on Education. 28 articles had a general focus, including on pandemic management and data collection.









4. Health

4.1. Health introduction

This section discusses issues around disabled people's health and access to healthcare in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, including disabled people's greater risk of infection and death, prevention and hygiene, access to treatment of COVID-19 and rationing protocols, the continuity of essential non-COVID-19 healthcare, the communication of public health messages by government and media, and the impact of the pandemic on mental health.

Existing healthcare infrastructure in the Global South is often poor, and this is particularly the case for countries recovering from conflict (Berghs, 2015a). Even prior to the pandemic, "the systematic misdistribution of power, money, and resources fuels social injustice causing millions of people worldwide to die prematurely" (Xafis, 2020). The financial burden of healthcare pushes many into poverty, with almost 50% of health care financing coming from out-of-pocket in low-income countries (Mills, 2014), particular those with low incomes (Orach, 2009). Due to lack of resources at governmental level, healthcare systems are often supported through private providers (Mills, 2014) or partnerships with voluntary organisations, religious organisations or NGOs (Berghs, 2015a, OECD, 2020). This can lead to a scattered and fragmented approach, with services being built up in silos and a lack of forward planning (Berghs, 2015a, OECD, 2020), in particular with regards to advance planning to ensure adequate provisions for disabled people (Campbell et al., 2009). As a result, there is often a disconnect between global health policy and the way it is implemented in local contexts (Berghs, 2015a). This fragmented approach also leads to healthcare services being considered in isolation rather being connected with initiatives in other sectors, including education, employment, transport, housing, and democracy-building (Berghs, 2015a). Several authors have emphasised the need for a multi-sectoral approach to public health (Qureshi and Scherer, 2020) and the importance of recognising interpendency and unity in the fight for good public health (Xafis, 2020).

The existing lack of infrastructure also leads to significant inequality, with marginalised groups likely to be excluded from access to healthcare, leading to poorer health outcomes (Xafis, 2020, Orach, 2009, Wagstaff et al., 2014, Marmot et al., 2008). While disabled people have more healthcare needs than non-disabled people, both standard needs and links to impairment, they are also more likely to have poor health (United Nations, 2020a). Hashemi et al. have tracked the barriers for disabled people in LMICs to accessing healthcare and found that this can be a very complex process influenced by multiple factors, including type and severity of impairment, as well as prejudice, stigma, and outdated beliefs held by doctors or family members, practical/logistical barriers in physical access to health facilities, and informational barriers with a lack knowledge or poor communicationon either the doctors and the disabled person's side, which can lead to misunderstandings and mistrust (Hashemi et al., 2020). There is still a strong tendency for disability issues to be linked to health (Berghs, 2015b), and international interventions and development programmes have tended to pathologize people and states as 'vulnerable' or 'weak' to justify the need for 'civilizing' control, rather than emancipatory actions (Berghs, 2015b). In addition, several scholars have pointed out that the inequalities experienced by disabled people may intersect with







other areas of oppression; for example mainstream organisations may replicate unequal structures such as racism (Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020). Research into healthcare following disasters also indicates that men are often prioritised and given preferential access to treatment over women (Gartrell et al., 2020, Hines, 2007, Irshad et al., 2012).

Healthcare emergencies and disasters are not only likely to exacerbate the issues of poor infrastructures and health inequalities, but also often create more disabled people with more immediate and long-term health care and rehabilitation needs (Benigno et al., 2015). Berghs discusses the aftermath of the Ebola crisis West Africa, where thousands of Ebola survivors have symptoms with undiagnosed causes of impairment, however the international focus has been on establishing stigma support groups, rather than addressing the long-term medical impact and psycho-social trauma of Ebola (Berghs, 2015a). In policy-focussed literature, Meaney-Davis (2020) also points out that "Disability inclusion appears not to have been prioritised by mainstream actors in the response to previous epidemics", and lessons learned from interventions are still limited.

4.2. Infection and mortality

4.2.1. Increased risk

While the focus of this literature review was on disability as a social phenomenon and articles from the medical field were excluded, there was nevertheless a recognition in both academic and 'grey' literature that disabled people are a greater risk of COVID-19, in terms of rates of infection, more serious complications, and greater risk of death., and that this risk is compounded by both health and social factors. Some impairments or associated health condition increase susceptibility to COVID-19 (Fund et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020b, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d, World Health Organization, 2020b). Social barriers faced by disabled people also include unequal access to treatment, lack of emergency planning and preparedness for the specific requirements of disabled people, poor health communications, or being unable to afford treatment. (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020b, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020, World Health Organization, 2020b). Some disabled people also face difficulties in taking appropriate protection measures, such as hygiene measures, wearing of personal protective equipment (PPE), or social distancing. (Senjam, 2020, World Health Organization, 2020b, Campbell et al., 2009) (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020b). Disabled people may be at greater risk due to working in high-risk professions, and Singh (2020) particularly highlights the risk faced by disabled healthcare providers. This risk is also gendered with women representing 70% of the global health and social sector workface leaving women, including disabled women, at greater risk (Pearce, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020). There is a tendency within the reviewed literature to conflate all disability with a greater risk of COVID-19 without the recognition that not every disabled person will necessarily be more susceptible on grounds of their impairment. Nuance is therefore required to recognise the varying levels of risk faced by different groups of disabled people (United Nations, 2020b) to avoid perpetuating the stereotype of all disabled people as inherently 'vulnerable' or 'weak'. In many countries, efforts have been made to identify those most









at risk of contracting or becoming seriously ill with COVID-19, and asking them to 'shield' by selfisolating in their homes, however this is not always practically possible (McKinney et al., 2020).

4.3. Prevention and hygiene

4.3.1. Barriers to prevention

Following hygiene and advice to prevent infection and spread with COVID-19 presents particular challenges for disabled people, due to the increased need for touching either objects or other people. This presented a particular issue for users of mobility aids, which are frequently handled (Clugston and Spearing, 2020, Fund et al., 2020, Jalali et al., 2020, Qi and Wang, 2020). While the World Health Organization (2020b) recommends that these products are frequently disinfected, this may not always be possible as disabled people either lack the knowledge of how to clean their aids properly (International Disability Alliance, 2020b, International Disability Alliance, 2020s, Senjam, 2020), or do not have funds available to purchase cleaning products (McKinney et al., 2020). Blind people are also at increased risk due to their need to touch tactile surfaces to obtain information on their environment (Clugston and Spearing, 2020, Fund et al., 2020, Jalali et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020s, McKinney et al., 2020, Senjam, 2020). Disabled people with a variety of impairments may struggle to keep distance from others, due to the need for receiving care or assistance (Emirie et al., 2020, Fund et al., 2020, Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020s, Nath and Gosling, 2020), or overcrowding in institutional settings and slums (Fund et al., 2020, McKinney et al., 2020, Sakellariou et al., 2020). The widespread of use of masks also presented a particular barrier for many deaf people who rely on lipreading to communicate (Goyal et al., 2020).

4.3.2. Access to PPE and hygiene facilities

Ensuring access to adequate hygiene and personal protective equipment (PPE) is particularly important for disabled people due to their higher susceptibility to the virus. However, due to the sudden increase demand and breakdown of national and international supply chains as a result of the pandemic (Poudel and Subedi, 2020, United Nations ESCAP, 2020), many countries experienced a scarcity of hygiene and PPE products. Several surveys report between 25% to 50% of disabled respondents having difficulty accessing cleaning and PPE equipment of having limited stock, with the majority between the 40-50% mark (Brennan et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Huong, 2020, i2i, 2020, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020). This was exacerbated by people 'panic buying' and stockpiling resources (Qi and Wang, 2020). Lack of access to hygiene products was a particular issue in institutions (Brennan et al., 2020) and closed off communities (International Disability Alliance, 2020h). One report from a taxi driver working without adequate equipment also suggests that this was a particular issue for those in informal and customer-facing employment (International Disability Alliance, 2020n). In addition, poverty was a major barrier to purchasing adequate equipment where this was not provided by the authorities (Emirie et al., 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020), with many being forced to choose between economic survival and







protecting themselves adequately (Emirie et al., 2020). Water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) infrastructure is often poorly developed in LMICs, such as no running water in many homes or camps (Emirie et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020j, McKinney et al., 2020), and where these facilities are available, they are often inaccessible (Fund et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020c).

4.3.3. Prevention communication

Finally, adequate communications around proper hygiene techniques was a particular issue. As with general public health communications, information on how to prevent infection was often not specifically target at disabled people (International Disability Alliance, 2020b, Zayed et al., 2020) or delivered in different accessible formats and languages (Fund et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020j)). In Vietnam, only 3% of people in one survey had received relevant training on prevention and infection handwashing (Huong, 2020). Any training will also need to be adapted to address any barriers, for example handwashing and mask wearing techniques for those with limited hand mobility or visual function (McKinney et al., 2020, Senjam, 2020). Effective and targeted communication can also address attitudinal barriers to proper hygiene, for example some young people received bullying as a result of wearing masks in public (Emirie et al., 2020) and many disabled people continue to be stigmatised as 'dirty' and are therefore discriminated in access to WASH facilities.

4.4. Treatment and rationing

Being discriminated against or denied treatment for COVID-19 is a significant concern for many disabled people, both as a result of discriminatory standards of crisis care, and general inaccessibility of testing and treatment facilities. Disabled people are three times more likely to be denied health care (United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020), and many may be fearful of hospitals due to past experiences of discrimination and make seek out alternative medicine such as faith-based or spiritual healing (Berghs, 2015a). The Disability Rights Monitor global survey conducted by multiple DPOs received over 550 written testimonies from around the world regarding access to healthcare detailing the barriers to equal access faced by many disabled people. 52% of respondents on a question of access to healthcare stated were denied or deprived of healthcare for COVID-19 during the pandemic (Brennan et al., 2020). This includes a report of an autistic child being denied a COVID-19 test for being "too difficult to assess" (Brennan et al., 2020). Participants in the Disability Rights Monitor as well as a survey by the World Blind Union both expressed high levels of fear of being denied treatment due to disability (Brennan et al., 2020, Zayed et al., 2020).

4.4.1. Triage protocols and healthcare rationing

The first major concern around discrimination in access to healthcare is around the introduction of rationing guidelines and triage protocols for treatment when healthcare providers are at capacity.







As in past pandemics, disabled people have been intentionally or inadvertently de-prioritised by these protocols in many countries, despite the fact that this contravenes both the UNCRPD and the World Medical Association's statement on medical ethics in the event of disasters (Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). This de-prioritisation is often based on assumptions that disabled lives are inherently less valuable and not worth living, which are rooted in the medical model of disability (Women Enabled International, 2020). These assumptions entail that disabled people have a poorer quality of life (Singh, 2020, Scully, 2020), as well as assumptions about the overall health status of disabled people and about their social utility (Scully, 2020). The latter is often equated with economic productivity, meaning disabled people are marginalised as they are assumed to be economically unproductive and therefore a burden to society (Scully, 2020). Due these disablist assumptions, as well as disability being framed as a medical issue rather than a social oppression, there remains a debate within academic and clinical circles around whether it is acceptable to use disability as a consideration factor in triage protocols (McKinney et al., 2020). McKinney et al. (2020) discuss in detail the South African COVID-19 triage policy, which highlights the problem of the conflation between disability and frailty, based on the principles of 'saving the most lives' and 'saving the most life years'. Like policies in other countries, such as the UK, it is based on the Clinical Frailty Scale used in geriatric medicine. This measures frailty based on the day-to-day assistance required by a person to complete everyday tasks. However, it is designed only for use with older people, and therefore does not take into account life expectancy or quality of life. This means a young, physically fit person with average life expectancy, who requires care due to a severe physical impairment or intellectual impairment could be classified as severely frail and therefore denied treatment under the protocol (McKinney et al., 2020). While the South African protocol was later amended to specifically exclude some types of 'stable' impairments from the Clinical Frailty Scale, there is still a concern that people with intellectual impairments, who face particularly high risk of discrimination, are not included, and that the exclusion of disabled people from the Clinical Frailty Scale may not necessarily be clear to those making decisions based on the guidelines (McKinney et al., 2020). Another international survey also found that 81% of respondents had identified either formal or informal healthcare rationing procedures in place in their countries, and fear of deprioritisation and discrimination was deterring many disabled women from seeking out treatment (Women Enabled International, 2020). Further, rationing and discrimination may not necessarily be enshrined in policy, but can occur at individual or hospital level due to negative attitudes, and conscious or unconscious biases held by healthcare workers (Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020). Involving disabled people in the development of crisis standards of care is therefore crucial in ensuring that protocols do not discriminate against disabled people (Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020a).

4.4.2. Access to treatment facilities

A second area of discrimination is around structural barriers to access both general and COVID-19specific healthcare facilities. Multiple reports from grassroots DPOs reported about that treatment and quarantine centres built specifically for the care of COVID-19 patients were inaccessible by not providing the required facilities for disabled people (Disability Working Group, 2020, Gurung and









Gahatraj, 2020, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020), including a lack of accessible toilets and beds (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020). In addition, disabled people infected with COVID-19 are often separated from their caregivers or personal assistants (Pearce, 2020), which can lead to their care needs not being met, as well as potentially leaving patients with communication impairments unable to communicate effectively healthcare staff (Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020). This is particularly concerning in cases where children are being separated from their parents or caregivers, due to either the child or one or both parents being infected with COVID-19, with reports that in China several children were put in complete isolation (Singh et al., 2020b). There may also be economic barriers to accessing healthcare, particularly for disabled people with no health insurance (International Disability Alliance, 2020q), as payments may be required out of pocket for some treatments (Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020). Some countries, including Argentina and Peru, took measured to ensure all COVID-19-related treatment is free of charge in (Sakellariou et al., 2020). Specific groups of disabled people are at particularly high risk of facing discrimination in healthcare. Children may present COVID-19 symptoms differently from adults and may therefore find it more difficult to access treatment, even though disabled children could fall into the 'high-risk' category isolation (Singh et al., 2020b, Waldman et al., 2020). In addition, in some cultural contexts men may be prioritised over women when becoming ill (Pearce, 2020), and the Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities highlight that disabled women migrant workers in particular frequently experience barriers to accessing healthcare (2020).

4.5. Essential non-COVID-19 healthcare

4.5.1. Routine and emergency care

As countries around the globe focussed healthcare efforts on treating and containing COVID-19, this had a significant impact on the provision of all other routine and emergency healthcare services, with many services running at reduced capacity or being shut down completely. This mirrors the actions taken in previous pandemics and disasters to divert all available resources to deal with the current emergency, to the detriment of essential general (Berghs, 2015a) and disability-specific healthcare services (Benigno et al., 2015), even though the non-delivery of essential routine services such as vaccinations and screening can contribute to an increase in disability prevalence (Berghs, 2015a, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). Disability-specific services were often classified as 'nonessential' and therefore ceased (Disability Working Group, 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020g, McKinney et al., 2020) or repurposed into a COVID-19 facility (International Disability Alliance, 2020n). This meant that many disabled people were not able to get their healthcare needs met, with figures of those who had unmet medical needs ranging from 19% to 70% in the literature reviewed (Brennan et al., 2020, CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020, Pham, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020, Huong, 2020). Routine healthcare appointments and check-ups were cancelled or delayed (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020g, Jones et al., 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020), which has a disproportionate effect on disabled people (Pham, 2020). Specialist healthcare such as blood testing, physiotherapy, and scanning also became unavailable as resources were allocated to







COVID-19 treatment (Jalali et al., 2020, Jones et al., 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020).

4.5.2. Management of conditions

Many disabled people with conditions that require ongoing management face significant barriers to doing their "chronic homework" due to limited access to universal healthcare and access to pharmacies, particularly in rural locations. (Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020) The COVID-19 added to these barriers as many disabled people faced further barriers, including being unable to get to hospital due to a lack of transport (International Disability Alliance, 2020c) and services only being available in major cities, with rural locations closed (International Disability Alliance, 2020k, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Thompson, 2020, Jalali et al., 2020), and this impacted particularly on indigenous populations (Rohwerder, 2020d) and disabled people living in informal settlements and camps (Thompson, 2020). In one survey of disabled people in Kenya and Bangladesh found that 39% and 44% respectively of those surveyed had experienced disability discrimination, including exclusion from vital services. (i2i, 2020). Examples of exclusion included sign language interpreters not being available or unwilling to attend hospital (Brennan et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020n), and young disabled people not being supported by family caregivers to access facilities due to stigma related to disability (Emirie et al., 2020). One positive example comes from Chile, where disabled people could obtain a special permit attend a doctor's appointment during lockdown with a companion (Sakellariou et al., 2020). In addition, many disabled people were also unable to access medication and other essential healthcare items, including hygiene materials (diapers, catheters, hand sanitizers, masks) mobility aids, respirators, and special food (ECLAC, 2020, Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Human Rights Watch, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, International Disability Alliance, 2020h, International Disability Alliance, 2020q, International Disability Alliance, 2020r, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020). Being unable access essential care services left some disabled people unable to leave the house (International Disability Alliance, 2020r), relying on self-medication and reliance on home remedies (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, International Disability Alliance, 2020q), as well as putting disabled people at risk of further harm by exacerbating existing health and impairment-related complications (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Senjam, 2020, Thompson, 2020).

4.5.3. Sexual reproductive healthcare

The disruptions to sexual and reproductive healthcare (SRH) service had a negative impact particularly for disabled women, girls, and non-binary people. Disabled women generally face barriers to accessing these services, in part due to the assumption that they are asexual (Emirie et al., 2020). These barriers were exacerbated during the pandemic as SRH services became







inaccessible due to closure or a reduction in services (Emirie et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020k, Women Enabled International, 2020). Access to sanitary pads was a particular access to many disabled people who menstruate, as these were not included in 'essential' services (Goyal et al., 2020, Panda et al., 2020, Shrestha, 2020). Many were no longer to access these products independently and found it difficult to discuss their requirements with others, particularly male members of the family, due to stigma around menstruation (International Disability Alliance, 2020f). On the other hand, some pregnant people were prevented during labour from having companions present for emotional support, communicating with healthcare staff, and personal assistance (Women Enabled International, 2020). In one survey, non-binary people identified that they were struggling to access hormones; the same survey suggests that some countries across the world were using the pandemic as a cover to permanently scale back access to safe and legal abortion (Women Enabled International, 2020). The disruption to SRH and maternity care are likely to contribute to both an increase in both disability and death, particularly for women and infants (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d).

4.5.4. Remote health services

Some services moved to offering remote services using telecommunications technology, as recommended by the WHO (2020b). While this approach was useful in places with highly developed internet infrastructures such as Iran (Jalali et al., 2020), disabled people are disproportionally more likely to have reduced access to digital technology, as well as facing accessibility barriers in accessing some technologies (Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020). Some were also worries that remote appointments it would not be covered by insurance (Women Enabled International, 2020), or had concerns about privacy (Goyal et al., 2020). Telehealth appointments are not always an appropriate replacement for in-person assessment and treatment (Goyal et al., 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), as exemplified by an example from Palestine where a patient felt he did not have to the skills to care for his wounds at home (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). There are also some positive examples of services being adapted for home delivery, such as home visits for physiotherapy (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020), home testing services ((United Nations, 2020b) and the delivery of prescription medicines to local pharmacies (Qi and Wang, 2020).

4.6. Public health communications

4.6.1. Sources of information

Access to reliable, complete and up-to-date public health information is crucial for disabled people in ensuring that they are able to take preventative action to protect themselves from infection, as well as ensure they follow local emergency measures. Governments have a responsibility to ensure communication reaches everyone and is "equally effective to all audiences at all times" (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). However, the sources from which disabled people receive information on COVID-19 are not homogenous, and may vary by a number of different factors, including by impairment.









Battle (2015) for example notes that persons with hearing and psychosocial impairments are much more likely to rely on family, friends and or neighbours than news organisations for information. This is also reflected in NGO and DPO reporting related to COVID-19, which suggests that there is a high reliance on information through informal networks such as friends and family (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Shrestha, 2020). In addition, Disabled People's Organisation have emerged as major source of information for disabled and have taken on considerable responsibility of relaying COVID-19 to the disabled communities they serve (Ahmed et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020b) (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, Shrestha, 2020).

4.6.2. Inaccessible communications

Looking more closely at the barriers disabled people faced at explanation, these can be categorised into three main themes: inaccessible formats, technological barriers, and language/literacy-barriers. Accessible formats were described as "non-existent" in one personal account (Meaney-Davis et al., 2020), with a lack of measures to ensure radio, television, and websites where accessible to all, particularly to those with sensory impairments. The need for sign language interpretation was by far the most common requirement identified in reports (Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities (AOPD), 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Cahapay, 2020b, International Disability Alliance, 2020s, Singh, 2020, Disability Working Group, 2020). However, in a review of COVID-19 press conferences and press briefings for 123 LMICs Yap et al. (2020) found that only 64% of LMICs had a sign language interpretation available, and that none out of five major international organizations, including the WHO, provided sign language interpretation available during briefings and conferences. In addition, where sign language interpretation was provided, interpreters were not always adequately trained (International Disability Alliance, 2020b). However, not all deaf people understand sign, therefore captions are also crucial requirement to ensure information is accessible. (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020g). Other barriers identified included a lack of Braille (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020s), inaccessible helplines (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020s), inaccessible tracking apps (Goyal et al., 2020), and a lack of recognition that touch is essential to communicate to some people, particular people with deafblindness (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). In addition, two studies examining web accessibility found that the WHO website was less than 50% accessible at double A-level of the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.1 (Fernandez-Diaz et al., 2020), and, that the vast majority of health authority websites for 189 countries had significant accessibility errors, with only 4.7% having fully implemented the WAI accessibility guidelines (Dror et al., 2020).

4.6.3. Technological barriers

A lack of access to technology was another barrier that disproportionally affected disabled people in LMICs. This was a particular issue for people living in rural or remote locations, where people may have limited access to television and radio, and internet connections are unstable and expensive









(Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Brennan et al., 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020c, International Disability Alliance, 2020f, International Disability Alliance, 2020q, Rohwerder, 2020c). According to Singh (2020), around 70% of disabled people in the Global South live in rural areas. Many disabled people rely strongly on family networks, such as relatives from urban areas communicating information to their families in rural locations (Emirie et al., 2020), but where these networks were disrupted or disabled people did not have established networks, they often did not receive the information required (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a), although in some cases. Further, where there was limited access to technology in households, disabled people as well as girls and women were more likely to be deprioritised in accessing these resources due to cultural and gender norms (Małachowska et al., 2020).

4.6.4. Language and literacy barriers

The third major barrier faced by disabled people accessing information was the issue of language and literacy. Disabled people are more likely to be illiterate or have limited reading ability (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020f, International Disability Alliance, 2020m), which means written information was inaccessible to them, and the language used was problematic as some had issues understanding concepts such as 'quarantine' and 'social distancing' (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020). In addition, official public health communications were often, and in particular affecting older women (United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). In addition, many public health communications were not translated into local minority languages, meaning it was not accessible to those who had a limited understanding of the main spoken language, and particular affecting indigenous, low caste, and ethnic minority communities (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020m, International Disability Alliance, 2020k, Gahatraj, 2020).

4.6.5. Messages

Given these barriers, it is not surprising that results from multiple NGO surveys indicated that a considerable amount of disabled people feel they had not received sufficient information about the prevention of COVID-19, or that they did not fully understand the information. The percentage of these people ranged between 22% to 46% depending on the survey (Brennan et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Light for the World, 2020, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020, Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Shrestha, 2020). One survey indicates that the amount of awareness held was inversely proportional to the severity of a person's impairment (National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020). The lack of information was described as a considerable source of concern and anxiety for many people (Zayed et al., 2020, Goyal et al., 2020). Where disabled people were receiving information, this was often not complete, specific enough, or of poor quality. This means that disabled people were not necessarily aware of the full range of symptoms associated with COVID-19 (Shrestha, 2020), of the hygiene and physical distancing measures necessary to prevent infection and spread (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Senjam, 2020, Shrestha, 2020), or of the public measures and programmes taken by their government in response to the pandemic (UNDRR, 2020).







The information provided was often generic and there was no communication specifically targeted at disabled people to address their specific circumstances and needs (Human Rights Watch, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020e, International Disability Alliance, 2020n, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020). In some countries, incorrect or misleading information was spread, both through official government communications (Brennan et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d) and informal channels including social media, text messaging and forums (Light for the World, 2020). (International Disability Alliance, 2020p), giving rise to conspiracy theories, misinformation, and confusion (Light for the World, 2020, Fernandez-Diaz et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020p, Rohwerder, 2020d). This may particularly affect young people who are more likely to access information through social media rather than official channels (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). The language used in communications was also frequently problematic, either in general or specifically in how it addressed disabled people. Abrams and Abbott (2020) discuss the language used around 'pre-existing' and 'underlying health conditions' became a way of othering disabled people and normalising their deaths as less noteworthy, to provide reassurance to non-disabled people that it was after all 'only' disabled people who had died (see also Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Goggin, 2020). In addition, public health and messages were sometimes perceived as 'alarming' and actively adding to mental health distress (Poudel and Subedi, 2020), particularly those with psychosocial impairments (International Disability Alliance, 2020r). Several writers therefore emphasized the need for communications to be considered and emphatic, with positive messages aimed at building mental resilience (Qureshi and Scherer, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Berghs, 2015a).

4.6.6. Good practice

On a more positive note, many of the articles and reports reviewed cite examples of good practice in ensuring that public health information is accessible to all. Many organisations have created accessible documentation for disabled people, including a daily Iranian newspaper covering COVID-19 news in Braille (Jalali et al., 2020), and multiple examples of Easy-to-read materials being produced for people with intellectual impairments (Brennan et al., 2020, United Nations, 2020b). However, this guidance was most often developed by NGOs or DPOs rather than governments (Human Rights Watch, 2020, Qi and Hu, 2020). Several governments have included sign language interpretation as standard in public health briefings (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Qi and Hu, 2020). However, in many cases, accessibility measures were only put in place after continued lobbying or legal action against government agencies and public broadcasters by local activists and DPOs (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Mhiripiri and Midzi, 2020). Finally, a positive example from a previous emergency, the typhoon Haiyan, was the development of a central Directory of Health, Rehabilitation and Disability Services which signposted disabled people and health and care workers to all available services, thus improving access to available health and social care services (Benigno et al., 2015).









4.7. Mental Health

4.7.1. Impact on disabled people's mental health

Just as previous pandemics have had a negative impact on mental health, evidence is beginning to emerge on the psychological toll taken by COVID-19 on both disabled and non-disabled populations (Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Poudel and Subedi, 2020, United Nations, 2020d). Like other non-COVID-19 related services, mental healthcare services were significantly disrupted during the pandemic; a striking example comes from Madrid where over 60% of its mental health beds were converted to beds reserved for COVID-19 patients (United Nations, 2020d). A study on young people's mental health following the COVID-19 outbreak in China found that 40.4% of the participants reported having psychological problems and 14.4% youth groups presented with Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms, with higher rates of distress among those with a lower educational level, and among men (Liang et al., 2020). Another study from Nepal reported a sharp increase in numbers of suicides during lockdown (Poudel and Subedi, 2020). Report and surveys from NGOs and DPOs suggest that many disabled people saw a decline in mental health and need for psychosocial support. (International Disability Alliance, 2020b, National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020, Pham, 2020, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020). In addition, frontline healthcare workers are particularly at risk of psychological distress during a pandemic (Singh, 2020, United Nations, 2020d). In some settings, there is also a high prevalence of existing psychosocial impairments, particularly as a result of conflict, displacement, and poverty (Clugston and Spearing, 2020). A UN report estimates that more than 1 in 5 people living in settings affected by conflict have a mental health condition (United Nations, 2020d). This group is at particular risk of further mental distress, due to barriers in accessing health care, inability to access medication during the pandemic, as well as being at higher risk of violence and abuse (Clugston and Spearing, 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). People with psychosocial impairments have reported increased stigma and prejudice, including having their capacity to make decisions questioned and having their healthcare needs minimised (International Disability Alliance, 2020m, see also International Disability Alliance, 2020l, Poudel and Subedi, 2020).

4.7.2. Impacting factors

The disruption and social isolation caused by lockdown and quarantine measures is the most commonly referenced cause in the literature reviewed. For many disabled people, this exacerbated the existing isolation and decreased support services reduced their access to community and social life even further (UNICEF, 2020a, Women Enabled International, 2020). The disruption of normal routines was particularly challenging for disabled people who rely on strong routines, such as people with intellectual or development impairments (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Singh, 2020). Economic hardship (International Disability Alliance, 2020c) and boredom (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020) as a result of lockdown were also cited as sources of distress. In addition, some disabled people were worried about contracting coronavirus (Goyal et al., 2020, Light for the World, 2020), some felt anxious due to inaccessible or negative news and public health communications (Goyal et al., 2020, Zayed et al., 2020), and many







were concerned about losing access to treatment or being denied medical assistance (Brennan et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020q). Data from previous pandemics including SARS, MERS, and Ebola suggests that the mental health effects are likely to be long-term, particularly for healthcare workers and survivors of COVID-19, who may deal with long-term physical symptoms, stigma, or survivor's guilt (Liang et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Poudel and Subedi, 2020). The level of long-term impairment is also exacerbated by the presence of environmental barriers, climatic conditions, finances, long-distance transportation, government policies, and adequacy of medical supplies, according to a study into PTSD among survivors of the Wenchuan 2008 earthquake (Reinhardt et al., 2020). Social support is therefore essential to prevent the development of long-term psychological trauma, particularly for those from deprived backgrounds who lack the ability to recover from emergencies (Liang et al., 2020).

4.7.3. Continuity of mental health services

Continuity in mental health care services is crucial in ensuring further exacerbation and long-term detriments in the mental health of both disabled and non-disabled populations. This includes ensuring that services are accessible despite travel restrictions (Qureshi and Scherer, 2020), for example through the use of phone hotlines staffed by trained professionals (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c). It is crucial that support geared towards the need of its communities, and that it is culturally sensitive, as some mental health interventions based western and bio-medical treatment model may not be appropriate to deliver (Qureshi and Scherer, 2020). Simultaneously, in-person services need to adapted so that they can be delivered in a safe manner, as online services may not be appropriate for all conditions, or may be inaccessible, particularly to poor and older people with limited literacy or telecommunications access (United Nations, 2020d). Effective delivery of mental health services is significantly hindered by the poor lack of investment in these services prior to the pandemic, with countries spending on average 2% of their health budget on mental health, mental health interventions accounting for less than 1% of international development assistance programmes for health (Qureshi and Scherer, 2020, United Nations, 2020d). Services are often funded through time-limited funding programmes run by international organisations, however Qureshi and Scherer (2020) highlight the crucial need for a long-term state-funded system that is sustainable and robust, and for international organisations to take greater accountability for the long-term sustainability of any interventions. Mental health coverage needs to be integrated into universal health coverage (United Nations, 2020d), and, as seen in the Philippines after the typhoon Haiyan, be an essential part of rehabilitation services provided (Benigno et al., 2015). In addition, there is a particular need to invest into specialist and appropriate services for child and adolescent mental health (Jones et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020a).









5. Education

5.1. Education introduction

This section will focus on the considerable disruption to education as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the effect of school closures, issues and barriers around home and remote learning, and emerging discussions around return to school for disabled children.

Many disabled children in the Global South face considerable barriers in access to education in LMICs, with estimates that around one in two disabled children were not in school prior to the COVID-19 pandemic (Azevedo et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020b), and in some countries, less than 1% of disabled children are enrolled in primary school (UNICEF, 2020b). Even where students are able to attend school, there is often little awareness of the requirements of disabled students. Due lack of understanding and funding constraints, they therefore receive little to no accommodations, particularly in rural areas or at secondary and tertiary levels (Emirie et al., 2020). Girls in particular are much less likely to attend schools than boys, and this exacerbated for disabled girls, who are much less likely to be enrolled in schools than boys or non-disabled girls (Rohwerder, 2020a, UN Women, 2020).

A lack of funding for education is a major issue in providing inclusive education initiatives, perpetuates the unequal access for disabled people. For example, in Lebanon many special schools are owed substantial amounts of funding by the government, and therefore struggle to deliver quality education (Human Rights Watch, 2020). In Nepal, the lack of data on how on disabled children prevents the effective budget and implementation of inclusive education (Rohwerder, 2020a). There is a need to ensure that development funding initiatives prioritise and target finances towards specific measures to improve access to education for disabled children (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Education in conflict zones and refugee camps presents a particular challenge due to the lack of infrastructure, including damaged buildings, a lack of appropriately trained teachers (Battle, 2015), and prolonged electricity cuts (Abu Moghli and Shuayb, 2020). All of these existing barriers have been exacerbated as the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted education provision on a global level.

5.2. School closures

As the COVID-19 pandemic spread across the globe, many countries reacted by closing schools to avoid the spread of infection. It is estimated that at least 1.5 billion children and their families were affected by school closures (UNESCO Bangkok, 2020, Waldman et al., 2020), in at least 188 countries (Waldman et al., 2020). This caused significant anxiety and drastic disruption to the lives of many children and their families (Singh, 2020), and particularly for disabled children who found their routines disrupted and faced uncertainty about the future of their education (Cahapay, 2020a, International Disability Alliance, 2020e, Majoko and Dudu, 2020, Małachowska et al., 2020).









5.2.1. Secondary functions of schools

As well as being places of education, schools fulfil several other important social functions and the disruptions had a particular negative impact on disabled children in LMICs. This included the disruption of food programmes, including access to school meals and food parcels distributed through schools (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020b, International Disability Alliance, 2020a, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, UNESCO Bangkok, 2020, United Nations, 2020b, Xafis, 2020). School meals for many children and families may be the main source of nutritious food, however 41 percent of the 129 UNICEF program countries surveyed in May 2020 did not report interventions in nutrition and school feeding as part of their national response to COVID-19 (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Disabled children are particularly likely to be excluded from feeding programmes, as they are more likely to be excluded from school in the first place (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Schools are also important as safe spaces for children where safeguarding mechanisms can identify and report abuse (United Nations, 2020b, Waldman et al., 2020). Without these services, girls in particular are at high risk of sexual abuse and exploitation, as reported as a result of the Ebola outbreak, where teenage pregnancies increased in some communities by as much as 65 percent and many girls never returned to school (Azevedo et al., 2020). A recent situational analysis from Tanzania also reports an increase in female genital mutilation (Rohwerder, 2020c) as a result of COVID-19 school closures. Children who are displaced and living in refugee camps, slums, or on the street are also at higher risk of child labour, child marriage and child trafficking. (Waldman et al., 2020). The increased use of online platforms may put children at higher risk of cyberbullying and sexual exploitation (Waldman et al., 2020), and while teachers and social workers can stay in touch through calls and messaging services (Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), reporting of abuse at home by children may be inhibited through the constant presence of parents and the resulting lack of privacy (Goyal et al., 2020). In addition to routine medical check-ups and services being provided in schools to all children (United Nations, 2020b), schools may also be the setting for delivery of disability-specific therapy services (International Disability Alliance, 2020e, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, Waldman et al., 2020), as well as mental health services (United Nations, 2020d). While some services moved online (Cahapay, 2020a), not all of these were able to provide adequate care using remote methods (United Nations, 2020d). Mental health concerns may be exacerbated by reducing children's opportunities to socialise and play with their friends (UNESCO Bangkok, 2020, Waldman et al., 2020). Schools also frequently act as a primary source of information about the pandemic and disease prevention for children and their families (Senjam, 2020, UNICEF, 2020a, UNICEF, 2020b), and may be the only place where children in LMICs have access to WASH facilities (Senjam, 2020, UNICEF, 2020b).

5.3. Home and remote learning

5.3.1. Impact on parents and caregivers

As a result of school closures, much of the responsibility of educating disabled children fell onto parents and caregivers. In an example from the Philippines, a DPO compiled accessible learning resources for parents (Cahapay, 2020a), however a first-hand report from South Africa and a global survey of blind and visually impaired people both indicate that many households did not receive the







required support to implement effective home education, for example a lack of disability-specific resources, and learning materials in inaccessible formats (International Disability Alliance, 2020a, Zayed et al., 2020). Another major barrier was lack of education among parents and caregivers, particular among children who are first generation learners with parents/caregivers who are illiterate (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020). Parents may also not be familiar with Braille or sign language and therefore unable to support children with their learning; McClain-Nhlapo et al. (2020) discuss the example of children in boarding school whose families are not familiar with the formal sign language taught and therefore revert back to informal methods in order to communicate with deaf children.

For many caregivers, the requirement to balance home education with employment and other responsibilities with little notice and no certain end date represented a significant burden and source of anxiety (Light for the World, 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Two reports indicate that this burden was shared between different members of the household working together to provide home education (Cahapay, 2020a, Majoko and Dudu, 2020), and some parents drew on internet resources for impairment-specific information due to the inaccessibility of usual services (Majoko and Dudu, 2020). In addition, many parents used home education to impart life skills in addition to academic skills, including disease prevention and safety skills, cooking, and cleaning and housework skills (Cahapay, 2020a, Majoko and Dudu, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020). However, the gendered nature of household work means that many girls may miss out on study time as they will be expected to complete housework before beginning their schoolwork, while boys do not have any expectations of household tasks (Goyal et al., 2020).

5.3.2. Distance learning

In addition to home learning led by parents, many schools and educational facilities made efforts to provide some education to students through distance learning, through television, radio, messaging services, and online platforms including social media (Majoko and Dudu, 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Samaila et al., 2020, Toquero, 2020, World Health Organization, 2020b). However, the remote learning provided usually did not include additional time and resources to ensure adequate support for disabled students (Sakellariou et al., 2020, UNESCO Bangkok, 2020), and the engagement of disabled children in remote learning was not necessarily measured or monitored due to a lack of disaggregated data (Samaila et al., 2020). One survey of 942 households that include a disabled person in Jordan, 42% had children not using online education platform during quarantine period (Pham, 2020).

5.3.3. Barriers to remote learning

In addition, teachers require training on the most effective use of technologies to assist remote learning (Samaila et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020a), however 40% of teachers in OECD countries lack professionals IT skills and knowledge, with no data available teachers' digital skills in LMICs







(UNESCO Bangkok, 2020). In a global survey, A World Bank Group global survey of 1,845 teachers (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020) identified the main barriers to effective teaching as:

- 1) lack of internet/data availability (36 percent)
- 2) lack of personal assistants for disabled children (35 percent)
- 3) lack of accessible materials (35 percent)
- 4) costs (31 percent)
- 5) lack of assistive devices (30 percent)

The survey also notes that cost was considered a major barrier particularly in Sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020) 21% of teachers felt they had not received adequate support to teach disabled children effectively (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Remote education also disadvantaged disabled teaching staff, particular if online platforms were not fully accessible to them (Goyal et al., 2020).

5.3.4. Access to technology

The two major barriers to remote education for families with disabled children in LMICs were access to technology and accessibility to technology. Many households in LMICs have little or no access to the internet or online devices, and disabled people, poor people, and those living in rural locations are disproportionately affected by a lack of access (Azevedo et al., 2020, Brennan et al., 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, Majoko and Dudu, 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Rohwerder, 2020a, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020). Results from a global survey suggest that 62% of parents had access to television, while only 25% had access to tablets and 31% percent had access to computers, however only 18% parents felt that television and radio programmes were accessible and useful to support disabled children with their learning (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). The cost of technological equipment and internet access was also a barrier for some (Emirie et al., 2020, Krishnan et al., 2020). In Sierra Leone, radios were distributed by an NGO (Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). Even where technological equipment was present within a household, they may not necessarily have enough devices for both parents and children, particularly in families with multiple children (Azevedo et al., 2020) (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020). Access to education for girls and disabled children, and particularly disabled girls, was more likely to be seen as less important and therefore deprioritised, compared education than boys and/or non-disabled children (Goyal et al., 2020, Jones et al., 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020).

5.3.5. Inaccessibility of technology

The second major barrier for many disabled students was the inaccessibility of remote learning platforms, which lead to them being excluded from remote teaching (Abu Moghli and Shuayb, 2020, Human Rights Watch, 2020). A global survey of 1,628 parents and caregivers found that 58% were concerned learning loss due to inaccessible remote learning modalities and 48% about the lack of accessible educational materials (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Both teachers and families were









often unfamiliar with the different accessibility features offered by different devices and programmes and how to best employ these to teach disabled students (Goyal et al., 2020) (Toquero, 2020), leading to several reports and research papers calling for greater need for rigorous research into digital technologies and how they are used by children (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, Toquero, 2020), and collaboration with global technology companies to integrate accessibility features into potential learning platforms (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). Television and radio broadcasts in only one language caused difficulties in multilingual countries (Emirie et al., 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020), and particularly for sign language users, in places where sign language was not recognised as an official language (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020).Sign language interpretation was also a recurring problem when using online platforms (Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities (AOPD), 2020), particularly on a small screen where it may be difficult to lip-read, or to view the interpreter and other documents simultaneously (Krishnan et al., 2020, Human Rights Watch, 2020). Other barriers to online lessons included a lack of subtitles (Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities (AOPD), 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020), an absence of Braille provision (Azevedo et al., 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020), and an insufficient understanding on how to make online documents and images accessible and screenreader-friendly (Goyal et al., 2020, Human Rights Watch, 2020). Online lessons can also requires higher levels of concentration for people with some impairments, for example when lipreading (Krishnan et al., 2020), as well as affecting motor skills due to the need for typing (Krishnan et al., 2020), and overstimulation for people with sensory issues (Goyal et al., 2020). The prospect or reality of having to drop out of school due to these access barriers added to the anxiety felt by some disabled children and adolescents (Jones et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d).

5.4. Return to school

5.4.1. Drop-out rates

As schools reopen as a result of loosening of lockdown measures, disabled children are at higher risk of not returning to school. This may be because of parents and caregivers' concerns about the safety of return, particularly for disabled children who are at increased risk of severe COVID-19 symptoms (Azevedo et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, UNICEF, 2020b), or because parents hold negative attitudes about the value of education for disabled children. (Meaney-Davis, 2020). Disabled girls in particular are more likely to take on caring responsibilities for family members, and also face increased risk of violence and exploitations, which may prevent them from returning to school (UNICEF, 2020b). During the Ebola epidemic in Sierra Leone, 11,000 girls who were previously in school became pregnant (Mason, 2016), with many not returning to school despite government support measures to increase enrolment (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). The increase poverty caused by the pandemic increases reliance on children's work (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020), with boys likely to be pressured to contribute to household income rather than returning to school (Azevedo et al., 2020). Governments will need to take steps to ensure funding is available to support children of all genders, including disabled children to stay in school (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020) and put in place monitoring systems to measure the impact on different groups of children through disaggregated data (UNICEF, 2020b).







5.4.2. Attainment gaps

Disabled children who are returning to school are more likely to have fallen behind due to the lack of accessible home and remote learning options (Jones et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020b). In order to address the widening attainment gap, several reports recommend allowing disabled students to return to schools before non-disabled children (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020). Teachers will need to be equipped to deal with learning recovery through implementation of specific plans for learning recovery for disabled children (UNICEF, 2020b). The timing of exams will need to be considered and adjustments made to ensure disabled students are not disadvantaged (Jones et al., 2020, UNICEF, 2020b). In the Philippines, the Department of Education has developed a Learning Continuity Plan to guarantee continued learning for all children, including disabled children, including curriculum adjustments, alignment of learning materials, various modalities of delivery, and corresponding teacher and parent training for home education. (Cahapay, 2020b). The increase in online learning technologies may also provide an opportunity to offer more flexible education modalities, particularly for disabled children not previously enrolled in school (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020).

5.4.3. Discrimination and accessibility

Disabled children are at particular risk of being discriminated against and excluded during schools reopening (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Schools will need to ensure that any measures taken to make schools safe to return do not impact accessibility for disabled students, for examples physical spaces used to allow for social distancing (UNICEF, 2020b). Accessible WASH facilities are a concern disabled children and disabled teachers (Azevedo et al., 2020, McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020), including facilities for menstrual hygiene management (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020). Changes need to be clearly communicated and alternatives put in place so that learning can be delivered flexibly. Guidance from UNICEF (2020b) suggests the delivery of part-time distance learning, and providing additional resources and extra time for disabled pupils. It also highlights the importance of adequate funding for these measures, as well as ensuring PPE is provided for school staff (UNICEF, 2020b). The importance of contingency measure is highlighted in a first-person account from South Africa where disabled students who failed temperature screening at the door of their boarding school were potentially left without a way to return home due to having nowhere to go and poor availability of public transport (International Disability Alliance, 2020a). Finally, schools need to ensure they are equipped to support students who may have experienced trauma during school closures through adequate psychosocial support and counselling services (Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, UNICEF, 2020b).









6. Economy

6.1. Economy introduction

This section will summarise emerging evidence regarding the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in LMICs, including an increase in poverty, the social protection and relief measures put in place by governments in response, and the impact on employment and work.

The existing link between disability and poverty is well-documented in the literature reviewed (Gahatraj, 2020, Gartrell et al., 2020, Huong, 2020, Light for the World, 2020), with disability both a cause and a consequence of poverty (ECLAC, 2020, Thorpe et al., 2020). People living in poverty are likely to have limited access to basic healthcare, adequate nutrition, secure housing, safe drinking water and sanitation (ECLAC, 2020), all of which increase the risk of acquiring impairments that lead to disability. Disabled people's increased risk of poverty is compounded by a number of factors, including lower income and a lack of savings, weaker social networks, and the "Disability Price Tag", entailing additional costs such as assistive devices, health services, personal assistance, and higher costs for food and accessible transport, which have to be borne by disabled people and their families where there are no support mechanisms in place (Banks et al., 2021, Pineda and Corburn, 2020, Gartrell et al., 2020, ECLAC, 2020). Disabled people are also more likely to be in informal, insecure, and low-waged employment, or, particularly in the case of disabled women, to be unemployed (International Labour Organization, 2020b, Meaney-Davis, 2020, United Nations ESCAP, 2020). An Evidence and Gap Map (EGM) by Saran et al. (2020) found that poverty and disability were linked across impairment types, although the link is likely stronger for people with psychosocial conditions.

Poverty is compounded by a lack of social protection measures for disabled people, with only 28% of disabled people having access to disability benefits globally, and only 1% in low-income countries (United Nations, 2020b). Social security coverage can vary significantly between countries (Banks et al., 2021) and can be fragmented across sectors and regions (Rohwerder, 2020a), making it difficult for the population to navigate the complex administrative and legal landscape to understand and access available schemes. In regions with conflict such as Palestine, social protection systems have been eroded or are completely absent due to decades of occupation and a focus on neoliberal policy development over adequate social security (Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020). Social protection is crucial in enabling disabled people's access to rehabilitation, employment, education, travel and recreation (Berghs, 2015b), however in many countries support for disability-related needs are cast as a "family issue" and receive little government support (Gartrell et al., 2020). A scoping review of illness-related income protection in LMICs by Thorpe et al. (2020) found that only 47% of LMICs had policies covering all three areas of sickness, work-related injury, and disability, and that coverage was particularly low across most of Asia, the Pacific, and Africa. Further the study highlighted issues of non-compliance and inadequate enforcement of social insurance regulations, as well as policies not necessarily applying to smaller employers or the informal economy, where many disabled people and migrant workers are employed, and structural barriers including underfunding, corruption, poorly organised administration, and stigma and prejudice against some groups of claimants (Thorpe et al., 2020).







Where there are no social protection measures in place, Low- and Middle-Income countries often rely on development funding in order to provide this infrastructure. However this funding has historically excluded disabled people (Clugston and Spearing, 2020), despite frequently using images of impaired bodies "as a symbol of humanitarian crisis, loss of rights and charitable appeal in a neoliberal humanitarian marketplace" (Berghs, 2015b). The International Labour Organization (2020b) recommend that disability inclusion should be a requirement for funding to ensure donors and recipients are held accountable. However, funding is often tied to conditions and policies that in themselves can perpetuate disabling situations (Berghs, 2015b). Disability is often reduced to economic costs and 'vulnerability', rather than "a focus on social, economic, political, spiritual, cultural and other forms of capital that disabled people use to survive" (Berghs, 2015b). Barriers to economic participation for disabled people are often both institutional and attitudinal (Meaney-Davis, 2020), which cannot be addressed in isolation through funding of economic initiatives, or a focus purely on health and rights (Berghs, 2015b). Saran et al. (2020)'s EGM found that outcome such as control over own money, poverty and out of pocket payments, access to social protection programs, participation in development of inclusive policies were least studied, and studies around assessing stigma and discrimination, safety, participation in mainstream leisure and sports activity, legal rights, access to justice, participation in cultural and religious activities were also limited. Thorpe et al. (2020) on the other hand point out that there has been no WHO publication on income security and health within the last decade. The COVID-19 is a crucial turning point for this, providing an opportunity for 'building back better'. This is exemplified in a study on the positive effects following an earthquake in Iran, which led to new financial and business incentives to improve the financial situation for people with physical impairments (Pakjouei et al., 2020). However, as Meaney-Davis (2020) points out, if this opportunity is missed, evidence from previous economic crises suggests that the pandemic will likely increase inequalities between disabled and non-disabled people recovery will be much longer for disabled people.

6.2. Poverty

6.2.1. Increase in poverty

COVID-19 is likely to be the most significant setback for global poverty reduction efforts in the last few decades, with an estimated additional 88-115 million being pushed into extreme poverty as a result of the pandemic (Lakner et al., 2020). However, there is little large-scale quantitative data available on the economic impact on disabled people specifically, due to a lack of disaggregation of data by disability status (Meaney-Davis, 2020). The first-hand accounts and NGO reports surveyed in this literature review clearly indicate that increased poverty due to the pandemic is an urgent issue for many disabled people in LMICs. Up to 95% of disabled people surveyed were worried about their financial situations (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Huong, 2020), though some surveys reported lower numbers of 57% (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020) and 39% (Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020) respectively. Disabled people reported both increased cost, particularly health-related costs, and reduced income (Meaney-Davis, 2020), leading to the need to borrow and fall back on informal financial support (Ahmed et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). For many, this leads to the dilemma of







deciding between economic survival on the one hand, and protecting themselves from the pandemic on the other. (Emirie et al., 2020). The impact of poverty was described particularly stark for multiply marginalised identities, particularly indigenous people, and those from lower classes and castes, as well as ethnic and religious minorities (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020a). Gender disparities in labour force participation also leave women-headed households at particular risk of poverty (Gartrell et al., 2020). The negative effect on global economies is likely to be felt long-term, particular in places where it is compounded by additional factors such as other disasters (Rohwerder, 2020b) or trade sanctions (Jalali et al., 2020), leading to the prospect of "endless austerity" in many countries with a long-term reduction of spending on public services (Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020).

6.2.2. Food poverty

Across the reports and surveys carried out by NGOs and DPOs, food insecurity is cited as the most significant manifestation of poverty due to COVID-19 (Goyal et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Huong, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020q, International Disability Alliance, 2020r, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020b). Many disabled people surveyed perceived hunger as a bigger threat to their health than COVID-19 (Gahatraj, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). The percentage of disabled people reporting food insecurity in surveys ranged from 40% (Inclusion 2020) and 45% (Light for the World, 2020) to up to 74% (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). The ten countries where the highest percentage of respondents reported no access to food were Uganda, Nigeria, Kenya, Bangladesh, India, Colombia, Côte d'Ivoire, Tanzania, Rwanda, and Peru (Brennan et al., 2020). In Lebanon, Humanity & Inclusion (2020a) reported that the impact on refugees and displaced persons from Palestinian and Syrian backgrounds was much higher than that of Lebanese households. Another survey from Uganda suggests that the impact of food insecurity was more pronounced for those living in rural areas (Light for the World, 2020).

6.2.3. Impacts of poverty

An increase in debt was another result of rising poverty among disabled people. In one survey, disabled people reported having no or very little savings (Meaney-Davis, 2020, Pham, 2020) and the need to borrow money led to many taking on debt. (Meaney-Davis, 2020, Pham, 2020). Pressure to use any savings support the family may fall particularly on the eldest child in a household (International Disability Alliance, 2020m). Young disabled people reported the reliance on family members as stressful (Emirie et al., 2020) and the need to rely on others to borrow money also heightens risk of financial abuse (Meaney-Davis, 2020). In some cases, where disabled people needed to resort to begging, they were also left both at higher risk of violence, as well as increased risk of exposure to COVID-19 (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020b). Housing insecurity was another area as a major impact of poverty, with disabled people left at risk of eviction due to being unable to pay rent (International Disability Alliance, 2020q, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Pham, 2020), and struggling to pay utilities (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020), including internet access to engage in education (Emirie et al.









al., 2020). Other impacts of poverty included not being able to afford medication or essential treatments (Meaney-Davis, 2020, Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020) and masks and sanitation products to protect against COVID-19 (Emirie et al., 2020).

6.3. Social protection and support measures

6.3.1. Mapping of social protection measures

Multiple attempts have been made to map the global social protection response to COVID-19, however the breadth of policies tracked make it difficult to disaggregate which policies either cover or a specifically designed for disabled people. At the time of writing, the International Monetary Fund's policy tracker (International Monetary Fund, 2020) only lists seven countries as specifically covering disabled people. In contract, a mapping by the UNPRPD (2020) identified 60 countries with disability-specific relief measures. A "living paper" by the World Bank (Gentilini et al., 2020) identified that 212 countries or territories have put in place social protection measures in response to COVID-19, including 38 countries which have introduced Pensions / Disability benefits, 14 where disabled people are eligible for home delivery services of food and medical products, 15 countries where disabled people or children have been eligible for additional cash or allowances, and one-off cash transfers in 4 countries (Gentilini et al., 2020). More broadly, Gentilini et al (2020) highlight that social assistance accounts for the majority of social protection measures taken globally, with 61.4%, out which 51% are safety net measures, 31.13% are cash-based transfers, and 22% are in-kind measures (Gentilini et al., 2020).

6.3.2. Types of assistance

However, surveys by NGOs specifically aimed disabled people highlighted that many disabled people reported the need for more assistance (Ahmed et al., 2020).. In the global Disability Rights Monitor survey, only 6.5% of respondents reported that their governments provided cash as a social protection measure to support persons with disabilities, only 10% (205) said that persons with disabilities received financial support, and only 12% (258) said that persons with disabilities had access to benefits (Brennan et al., 2020). Responses varied significantly by country, with some countries including Mexico, taking almost no measures to provide social protection measures (International Disability Alliance, 2020k). The UNPRPD (2020) also note that few measures relate to the expansion of community, and that there is an overreliance on civil societies by governments. A range of different measures have been taken by countries to provide social protection relief. Supporting the World Bank findings (Gentilini et al., 2020), cash assistance (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Richardson et al., 2020) and in-kind assistance (Ahmed et al., 2020, Pham, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Huong, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Richardson et al., 2020) were most commonly reported in NGO reports. Cash assistance usually took the form of mostly new payments, rather than the expansion of existing programmes, and was usually either one-off or of short duration (Ahmed et al., 2020, Gentilini et






al., 2020, Richardson et al., 2020). In-kind support was also often one-off and include primarily the provision of food, while other needs such as hygiene products for personal care or to ensure prevention of infection were not necessarily considered (Ahmed et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Pham, 2020). A positive example comes from Pakistan, where the government has taken measures to disaggregate data from cash transfer programmes by disability status, thereby allowing for more effective monitoring of the impact on disabled people (Meaney-Davis, 2020). Some countries have taken steps to widen or expand existing social protection systems, including 6-month increase of the Disability Grant value in South Africa (Meaney-Davis, 2020) (UNPRPD, 2020). Several countries have provided advance payments including Argentina, India, Australia, Bahrain, Cook Islands, Tonga, Georgia, Honk Kong, Malta, Mongolia (UNPRPD, 2020), while others including the Kyrgyz Republic and Russia have taken steps to simplify the administrative requirements to access disability benefits (Meaney-Davis, 2020, UNPRPD, 2020). Albania and Armenia have introduced home delivery of cash payments also have introduced home-based services and home delivery of cash to support disabled people (UNPRPD, 2020).

6.3.3. Additional costs

As well as ensuring the inclusion of disabled people in general social protection measures, the "Disability Price Tag" means that specific support targeted at disabled people is crucial in ensuring that the additional barriers disabled people face during the pandemic. Emerging evidence indicates that countries with solid disability allowances and public support services (McClain-Nhlapo et al., 2020) and that a social protection floor as well as universal disability allowance are crucial to address these barriers and build resilience among disabled people to respond to the pandemic crisis (International Labour Organization, 2020b, United Nations, 2020b). As well as a potential need to isolate for longer due to being at higher risk of severe symptoms from COVID-19 (United Nations, 2020b), many disabled people have faced higher costs during the pandemic, (Banks et al., 2021, Goyal et al., 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), for example due to the need to buy increased amounts of PPE and hygiene materials, extra costs for home deliveries of items, and the need to pay for additional support due to closure of public services (Sakellariou et al., 2020, United Nations ESCAP, 2020). It is crucial that disability-specific schemes are coordinated with other social protections programmes, (Banks et al., 2021, United Nations, 2020b), as well as ability to work while receiving social assistance (International Labour Organization, 2020b).

6.3.4. Exclusion from support

However, in practice many disabled people were excluded from accessing additional support during the COVID-19 pandemic if they, or someone in their household, were already receiving disability support or other social protection payments (Ahmed et al., 2020, Gahatraj, 2020, Gentilini et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d, Sakellariou et al., 2020). Employment status also affect the ability to access support, with those in employment excluded from payments in some cases (Meaney-Davis, 2020), while others struggled to access employment-based social protection due to being unemployed (Samaila et al., 2020) or being in informal or self-employment (Xafis,









2020). Where countries are reserving payments for the poorest or most "severely disabled" (International Disability Alliance, 2020s), there is a concern that the majority of people will not be able to access support, leading to the "missing middle" in protection schemes (UNPRPD, 2020). In some countries, eligibility to support was contingent on citizenship (Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020) or the requirement to be registered as a disabled person (Gahatraj, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020q), disadvantaging already marginalised groups who are either rendered ineligible or may struggle to provide proof of eligibility, including indigenous people, single women, and poor people (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). Women in particular may be disadvantaged if payments are made based on family rather than individual income (Women Enabled International, 2020), household funds are controlled by men as heads of the household (Goyal et al., 2020), and men are generally favoured in the provision of monetary assistance (Gartrell et al., 2020), or funding is cont. Access to support also depended on age; while in some countries, measures were limited to disabled children only (Richardson et al., 2020), in other cases children were not eligible for disability allowances (Goyal et al., 2020), and McClain-Nhlapo et al. (2020) highlight that in some cases, schemes for children are tied to school attendance, leaving disabled children at greater risk of exclusion. One report also indicates that type of impairment was a factor in exclusion from social protection, with people with multiple impairments more likely to be excluded, as well as those with psychosocial impairments (Ahmed et al., 2020).

6.3.5. Barriers to social protection

In their analysis of previous studies on disability-inclusive implementation of social protection measures, Banks et al. (2021) highlight the key challenges to ensuring an effective response as restricted eligibility, inaccessible and time-consuming application procedures, inaccessible delivery methods of benefits, and inadequacy of the support provided. These issues seem to have been replicated in the provision of support during COVID-19. As well as restricted eligibility and inadequate provision of support, as discussed in the previous sections, many disabled people were not aware of the social protection support available and how to access it (Banks et al., 2021, Emirie et al., 2020, Gahatraj, 2020, Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, Shrestha, 2020). This was exacerbated by helplines and other sources of information about the support available being inaccessible for some impairments (Goyal et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). Many disabled people faced administrative barriers in accessing the registration process or in providing the required proof of their status as a disabled person in order to be eligible for support (ECLAC, 2020, Gahatraj, 2020, Giang and Huong, 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020c, Meaney-Davis, 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Sakellariou et al., 2020). The slow speed of assessing claims for social support also led to payments being delayed, sometimes by several months (Giang and Huong, 2020, Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020).









6.3.6. Distribution and access to relief

Many disabled people reported issues with the distribution and access of both monetary and inkind relief. DPOs in Nepal reported that less than half (45%) had received relief packages (National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020), while another reported that 67% had not received support (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020). This is echoed by reports from Uganda (Meaney-Davis, 2020), Bangladesh (Ahmed et al., 2020), and India (Goyal et al., 2020). Disabled people raised concerns reliefs being stolen (Ahmed et al., 2020), echoing a study which reported issues of corruption at local level preventing the effective distribution of relief (Gartrell et al., 2020). Disabled People's Organisation often stepped in to distribute the support measures locally (Brennan et al., 2020, Goyal et al., 2020), however this was often hampered by insufficient food and other relief provided by governments (International Disability Alliance, 2020p, Rohwerder, 2020d, Brennan et al., 2020). In Bangladesh disabled people called on the government and NGOs to take more responsibility in supporting relief efforts (Ahmed et al., 2020). Multiple reports indicate that disabled people faced barriers in physically accessing distribution points, including significant travel times and long queues with no prioritisation for disabled people or their families or personal assistants, and difficulty physically distancing in overcrowded distribution points (Ahmed et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Meaney-Davis, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020o). Access to cash in particular was an issue, as disabled people may not have access to formal finance services, due to the inaccessibility of banks with many banks inaccessible (Meaney-Davis, 2020, Panda et al., 2020). Some countries to action to mitigate this through the home delivery of cash transfers in Albania and Armenia, and specific dates for collection of benefits in South Africa to reduce crowds (International Labour Organization, 2020b).

6.4. Employment and work

6.4.1. Informal employment

Disabled people across the globe, and in particularly in LMICs, are more likely to work in the informal sector or be self-employed (Banks et al., 2021, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). This is particularly the case for disabled people who are also a member of another minority group, including women (Banks et al., 2021) (International Disability Alliance, 2020r, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020c, UN Women Africa, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020), young people (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Emirie et al., 2020), and indigenous people, ethnic and religious minorities, and low caste communities (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020). Informal work is characterised by increased insecurity through short-term or part-time contracts, putting disabled people at greater risk of losing some of their income or being made unemployed (Banks et al., 2021, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). Many self-employed disabled people work in small scale trade-based roles, in the food, transport, or tourism sector, which have been particularly affected by pandemic lockdowns (Rohwerder, 2020a), with restrictions impacting those selling goods or services in the street (Emirie et al., 2020, Giang and Huong, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020s). One disabled person reports not being able to get permission for a pass to buy items from the market to sell in her grocery shop (International







Disability Alliance, 2020f). Due to the small scale of their businesses, many self-employed disabled people are not eligible for either government support packages (Xafis, 2020) and may find it difficult to access loans with financial institutions less likely to lend during the pandemic (Rohwerder, 2020c). Agriculture-based jobs are an exception as one of the few sectors that was allowed to stay open (Light for the World, 2020). However, there are reports of people with albinism in Uganda feeling forced to accept working in fields without adequate protection from the sun (International Disability Alliance, 2020r, Meaney-Davis, 2020). Many low-paid workers have been recognised as 'essential' during the pandemic and had no choice but to continue working in roles with high exposure risk to the virus (Xafis, 2020). Many disabled people reported being forced to choose between their livelihood and feeding their families, and staying at home to protect themselves from possible infection (International Disability Alliance, 2020o, Rohwerder, 2020c, Xafis, 2020). The impact on informal and self-employed disabled people also particularly affects women (Banks et al., 2021, International Disability Alliance, 2020r, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020c, UN Women Africa, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020), and this extends to the health sector which is dominated by a female workforce in many countries, leaving women with increased workloads and higher risk of infection (Pearce, 2020).

6.4.2. Unemployment

Disabled people are also likely to be among the first to lose their jobs in a crisis, and the last ones to be hired (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, International Labour Organization, 2020a). Surveys carried out by NGOs suggest that many households with disabled members lost their employment or were unable to work during the pandemic, with figures ranging from 18% across Africa (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020), 30% in Vietnam (Meaney-Davis, 2020), 40% in Paraguay (ECLAC, 2020) and Nepal (National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020), 68% in Kenya (i2i, 2020), 78% in Jordan (Pham, 2020), up to 87% in some regions of Egypt (Meaney-Davis, 2020), and 65% (Ahmed et al., 2020) and 80% (i2i, 2020) for Bangladesh. While non-disabled people were also affected by job losses, the effect on disabled people losing employment was disproportionally higher (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development, 2020). For others, working hours were reduced or they received pay cuts (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Huong, 2020, Meaney-Davis, 2020). The risk of loss of income was exacerbated by stigma against disabled people, such as the belief that they are carriers of COVID-19 (International Disability Alliance, 2020h), and in one example, an employer used the relaxation of employment laws during COVID-19 to dismiss a disabled employee (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). It is therefore crucial for governments to ensure that employment rights and anti-discrimination laws are strengthened to avoid further discrimination (Pineda and Corburn, 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020) (United Nations ESCAP, 2020) against disabled people. In China, courts reduced the costs of litigation and prioritised disabled people's cases against employers to make it easier for disabled people to take action against unfair or discrimination dismissal (Qi and Wang, 2020). The phenomenon of unemployment is also again gendered, with disabled women more likely to be already unemployed (Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020) or having their income reduced (Ahmed et al.,









2020), as well as having less financial independence and resilience to recover from crisis (Gartrell et al., 2020).

6.4.3. Telecommuting

The global move towards telecommuting is described as one of the 'silver linings' (Singh, 2020) of the pandemic, enabling more flexible working for many across the globe, including many disabled people who had previously been denied homeworking as a reasonable accommodation (Goggin, 2020). A global International Labour Organization (2020a) survey found that out of 159 companies, 69% provided telework, 56% provided flexible working hours, and 32% provided paid leave. However, disabled people faced additional barriers as they did not necessarily have access to additional furniture equipment or software provided in their workplaces as a reasonable adjustment, or required further adjustments while working from home (Goyal et al., 2020, International Labour Organization, 2020b). The cost and inaccessibility of information technology also presented issues (Meaney-Davis, 2020). With meetings and management supervision taking place online, the inaccessibility of conferencing software, with meetings on small screens without captions or sign language interpretation, led to increased isolation among disabled people (Goyal et al., 2020, International Labour Organization, 2020b). A first-person account from a disabled woman in India who was given more work than her colleagues during homework suggests that disabled people may be subject to discrimination, due to the mistaken belief that they have no other commitments and therefore more time to take on work (International Disability Alliance, 2020c).

6.4.4. Long-term impact

The disproportionate effect on disabled people's employment project is likely to be long-term, with disabled people taking longer to re-enter the workforce (Banks et al., 2021), and many businesses' disability inclusion schemes being negatively affected by the pandemic (International Labour Organization, 2020a). This is likely to be exacerbated by the effect of school closures, as lack of education and training remains a significant barrier to employment for disabled people (Meaney-Davis, 2020). 16% of disabled women interviewed in one survey reported no plans for the future, and several highlighted the need for new employment opportunities (Ahmed et al., 2020). Action on this is led by Business and Disability Networks, who are carrying out training initiatives, as well as advocacy and awareness-raising campaigns (International Labour Organization, 2020a), including job-matching services in Bangladesh and a reskilling initiative to retrain disabled workers in the Philippines (Meaney-Davis, 2020). However, before any return to work, employers need to consult with disabled employees to ensure that workplaces are safe (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). (International Labour Organization, 2020a) and that those at higher risk from COVID-19 are not forced to return to work prematurely (Goyal et al., 2020). Employers should be prepared to be flexible to enable disabled employees to work from home for longer (United Nations ESCAP, 2020), recognise other barriers disabled people may face, such as a lack of accessible transport to travel to work (Goyal et al., 2020), and offer support including paid leave (United Nations ESCAP, 2020),







accommodations for caring responsibilities (UNICEF, 2020a, World Health Organization, 2020b), and psychosocial support (International Labour Organization, 2020b, UNICEF, 2020a).

6.4.5. Unpaid and domestic work

There is limited emerging evidence on the impact of the pandemic on disabled people in the context of unpaid work, including domestic and care work. The evidence that exists highlights an exacerbation of the unequal nature of this work, which is often highly gendered with most domestic and care work carried out by women (Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities (AOPD), 2020, Goyal et al., 2020). The unequal impact is increased through the disruption of formal care provision, meaning informal care arrangements need to be picked up by family members, particularly women (International Disability Alliance, 2020e, United Nations, 2020b). It is important to recognise that women are both receivers and providers of care (Goyal et al., 2020, International Labour Organization, 2020b), leaving many disabled women with little support in carrying out domestic tasks, as well as juggling childcare and working responsibilities (Goyal et al., 2020).









7. Community

7.1. Community introduction

This section will focus on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people's ability to participate in their communities, including the effect of lockdowns and physical distancing measures, the disruption to social care and the ability to live independently, the impact on disabled people in institutions or other confined, crowded spaces, including refugee camps, prisons, and homeless people. It will also discuss the impact on transport and infrastructure, the ability to access essentials including food and medicine, and the increase in violence and abuse against disabled people during the pandemic.

The rapid spread of the COVID-19 pandemic caused considerable disruptions to the lives of many disabled people through the interruption of formal and informal support mechanisms to live independently (i2i, 2020, Women Enabled International, 2020), and access to essential food and medicine (Qi and Hu, 2020), and transport (i2i, 2020). The right to independent living is a key tenet of the global disability rights movement and highlights of the importance of autonomy, dignity, and control over decisions affecting one's life. For many disabled people, this involves access to support from caregivers (Samaila et al., 2020), and the need for assistance is increased through barriers in the built environment, preventing disabled people from accessing public spaces, as well as education, work, suitable housing, and transport (King et al., 2019, Senjam, 2020).

In the Global South, particularly in countries where there is a cultural emphasis on the family unit and community combined with an access of government support, informal care from family, friends, and other community networks are the primary source of care received by disabled people (King et al., 2019, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). Evidence from previous disasters has shown that disabled people who lack these community networks are therefore at higher risk of isolation and often miss out on support and essential information in an emergency (Gartrell et al., 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, King et al., 2019). The role of family and community in providing support is reinforced by a lack of home-care services in many countries (King et al., 2019, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). However, informal caregivers usually do not enjoy the same protections as formal care workers and their lack of recognition means that may struggle to get access to medication or vaccine as a priority (Campbell et al., 2009).

Disabled people also represent the majority of institutionalised people globally (United Nations, 2020b), and are overrepresented in prisons (Sakellariou et al., 2020, United Nations, 2020b). Institutionalisation, imported to many LMICs during colonial times, has historically been used to make disabled people socially invisible and deny access to basic rights including autonomy, education, property, and family life (Choudhury Kaul et al.). Many disabled people therefore regard institutionalisation as a violation of human rights (Brennan et al., 2020).

The lives of disabled people are often devalued, with cultural and religious stigma that view them as 'less than', along with medical and charity models which reinforce the idea of disability being an individual 'problem' to be cured. (Gartrell et al., 2020) These attitudes contribute to increased risk







of violence and abuse of disabled people, including higher levels of sexual violence and abuse (Clugston and Spearing, 2020, Giang and Huong, 2020, UN Women Africa, 2020) and violence from family members (Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020, UN Women, 2020). Figures suggest that disabled women are 2-4 times more likely to experience interpersonal violence than non-disabled women (Clugston and Spearing, 2020), and 2019 statistics from Palestine indicate that 37% of married disabled women had experienced violence from their husband in the last 12 months (Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities, 2020). Disabled people may also be explicitly targeted by military action and deliberately neglected in humanitarian responses (Clugston and Spearing, 2020). Disabled people with psychosocial and/or intellectual impairments are particularly likely to experience violence and abuse (Lund, 2020), and disabled women and girls are at particular risk of abuse, violence, and exploitation following a disaster compared to non-disabled women(Gartrell et al., 2020).

There is little evidence on participation in recreational, leisure, and sports activities, as well as access to cultural and religious events, for disabled people in LMICs (Saran et al., 2020). This lack of evidence is perpetuated in the current body of literature on the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, despite participation in faith, culture, and leisure being an essential human right. Only one report highlights the lack of access to Braille books for blind people isolating at home (Zayed et al., 2020).

7.2. Lockdowns and physical distancing

7.2.1. Lockdowns

As the COVID-19 pandemic spread across the globe, many governments introduced significant social restrictions, with lockdowns affecting at least 4.5 billion, or 58% of the world's population during the first wave of the pandemic in Spring and Summer 2020 (Singh et al., 2020a). Just like other public health communication messages, communications around lockdown were not necessarily accessible to disabled people (International Disability Alliance, 2020s). The short notice at which lockdowns were often introduced meant disabled people had little time to prepare (International Disability Alliance, 2020s). The lack of support for disabled people by governments meant that many felt "abandoned [...] and trapped at home", with 45% of participants in a global survey stating that their government had not taken any measures to protect disabled people living in the community (Brennan et al., 2020). This also affected other communities, including indigenous communities (International Disability Alliance, 2020k). In China, a disabled teenager was found dead at home a week after being left alone when his father and brother were forcibly quarantined (Qi and Hu, 2020). Some countries with strict curfews also reported an increase of police harassment and violence against disabled people (Brennan et al., 2020). Prolonged periods of lockdown and bans on household mixing led to isolation for many disabled and older people, as they were cut off from networks of family and friends, communal support, and social and peer support groups (International Disability Alliance, 2020h, Light for the World, 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). Confinement at home has led to additional stress for many, including autistic people and those with psychosocial impairments (United Nations Human







Rights, 2020). While some were able to stay connected through the internet (Zayed et al., 2020), this was not an option for many without online access, particularly those in informal settlements (McKinney et al., 2020). For those living with families, the lockdown highlighted barriers to communication, for example where deaf people lived with family members who had no or limited understanding of sign language (Goyal et al., 2020, Jones et al., 2020, Małachowska et al., 2020). The enforced close proximity with family members has also led to increased risk of conflict (Jones et al., 2020), although some disabled young people reported that having more dedicated time with their family members had been a positive experience for them (Jones et al., 2020, Małachowska et al., 2020). The effect of lockdown was also heavily gendered. In the Arab region, older disabled women are much more likely to live without a partner than older disabled men, leaving them at greater risk of isolation (United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). Girls tended to be much more limited in their mobility during lockdown than boys (Jones et al., 2020, Małachowska et al., 2020), particularly in conservative environments where girls are not allowed to leave the house unaccompanied, and due to additional household responsibilities (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, Małachowska et al., 2020). In countries such as Colombia and Peru, men and women were allocated alternate days on which they could leave the house, which led to an increase in violence against transgender people (Rohwerder, 2020d). A first-hand account from Pakistan also indicates that the transgender community, along with poor and disabled communities, faced particular barriers due to stigma and discrimination (International Disability Alliance, 2020m).

7.2.2. Physical distancing

Another measure taken globally in response to COVID-19 the was the requirement to keep physical distance from others to avoid the spread of infection. This was often termed 'social distancing', although Singh (2020) highlights that this term is potentially problematic as it "has a different connotation in a geographically diverse country like India which has had its share of grappling with untouchability amidst socially outcast Dalit communities and segregated people affected by leprosy in colonies and institutionalized people with intellectual disabilities", and advocates for using 'physical distancing' instead. Keeping physical distance from the others presented a challenge for disabled people receiving personal assistance from others, and those relying on the community for support with personal mobility (Goyal et al., 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Senjam, 2020, McKinney et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020b, Waldman et al., 2020). Physical distancing was also particularly challenging for some with intellectual impairments (Goggin, 2020), and for blind people, particularly as new systems such as one-way systems or queueing guidelines rarely took their requirements into account, leading to a counterproductive increase in reliance on touching of surfaces to get around (Zayed et al., 2020). Some disabled people also reported experiencing increased stigma when they were not able to adhere to physical distancing in public (Emirie et al., 2020, Zayed et al., 2020), and to being non-consensually touched or grabbed by strangers who assumed they needed 'help' (Zayed et al., 2020).









7.3. Social care and independent living

7.3.1. Personal assistance

Many disabled people living in the community who used personal assistance found that their access to these services was disrupted as a result of lockdown measures (International Disability Alliance, 2020m, Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Panda et al., 2020), with 38% of disabled people in a global survey stating that they no longer have access to personal assistance (Brennan et al., 2020). Many were not able to find a replacement for the care provided (International Disability Alliance, 2020m), taking away their independence and dignity (Zayed et al., 2020) and placing them at risk of further harm (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). Where personal assistants were willing to continue to provide care, they were not always able to do so due to a lack of transport options (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020) or being prevented by law enforcement (Panda et al., 2020).

To ensure continuity of care and preserve disabled people's independence and dignity, the importance of a number of exemptions for caregivers was identified in the literature. This includes identifying personal assistants and caregivers as 'essential workers' and exempting them from lockdown and curfew restrictions, and ensuring that those enforcing the lockdown were aware of these restrictions (Campbell et al., 2009, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020c, United Nations ESCAP, 2020, World Health Organization, 2020b). This exemption, as well as exemption from physical distancing, was introduced by a number of countries, including Argentina, Peru, and Spain (United Nations, 2020b). In India, this exemption was introduced after a disabled woman's successful campaign on social media (Goyal et al., 2020). Strengthening the labour rights of personal assistants, including the right to paid sick leave, prioritisation for access to PPE, and increased funding for service providers (Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020, Pineda and Corburn, 2020) are among the measures identified to support the continuity of delivery of essential care services.

7.3.2. Informal care

Informal care networks where people received regular assistance from family members, friends, and communal networks and support groups, were also serious disrupted as a result of the pandemic, leaving many disabled people cut off from necessary assistance (International Disability Alliance, 2020h, Manderson and Wahlberg, 2020, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020), including access to food, medicine, and assistance with daily activities such as bathing, cooking, or eating. (United Nations Human Rights, 2020, Zayed et al., 2020). While the World Health Organization (2020b) advised disabled people to increase their 'pool' of informal carers, this was not possible for many. According to a survey from the Americas and Caribbean, 80% of those who required assistance were relying on family members for informal care, and 59% had nobody else to fall back on (UNDRR, 2020). A global survey of disabled people found that 33% had no access to formal care as a result of the pandemic, indicating that a significant amount of people were unable to get their essential needs met (Brennan et al., 2020). Both the growth in demand for assistance during the pandemic and the inaccessibility of formal personal assistance services further







increased the demand for informal care, putting pressure on both disabled people and their caregivers, who are often women (United Nations, 2020b). This increased stress also sometimes negatively impacted the relationship between a disabled person and their informal care provider, with requests for assistance becoming harder to make and heightening the risk of abuse (Women Enabled International, 2020). The lack of both formal and informal care had a significant impact on disabled people's independence and dignity. In one survey of blind people, 49% felt their independence had been impacted (Zayed et al., 2020). While some emphasised the importance of implementing contingency plans for when established care networks fall down (Jalali et al., 2020) (World Health Organization, 2020b), it is crucial that these plans respect the disabled person's dignity and right to choose who provides assistance to them (Pineda and Corburn, 2020).

7.3.3. Assistive devices

Many users of mobility aids or assistive devices found that lack of access to these during the pandemic caused significant issues (Women Enabled International, 2020). According to one survey, 55% of people using assistive devices said that they did not work well, virtually all of them required replacement (Pham, 2020). However, disabled people came across difficulties when attempting to get their devices repaired or replaced, usually because these services had been closed down due to having been deemed 'non-essential' (International Disability Alliance, 2020p, Smith et al., 2020). A review of assistive technology services by Smith et al. (2020) also found that there was a lack of provider availability as providers of services were reallocated to other healthcare services, and that lockdown both led to an increasing need for assistive devices while at the same time increasing difficulty to accessing it. Other barriers identified where the cost of assistive devices and the lack of skills or appropriate in how to use assistive devices, with the latter posing a particular problem for rural populations who struggled to access services remotely (Smith et al., 2020).

7.4. Institutionalisation and confinement

7.4.1. Care and residential institutions

The COVID-19 pandemic had a devastating impact on residential homes and psychiatric facilities (Brennan et al., 2020, Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020), accounting for 42% to 57% of all COVID-19 deaths in some countries (United Nations Human Rights, 2020). Overcrowding, a lack of cleanliness and confined spaces greatly increased the risk of transmission (Campbell et al., 2009, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020), with one first-hand account reporting around 20-30 living in one room in some Indonesian psychiatric institutions, and no handwashing facilities or precautions being taken by staff to stop the spread of infection (International Disability Alliance, 2020d). Two reports indicate that disabled people in institutions had no access to information on the pandemic or how to protect themselves, and were not seen as capable of understanding this information (International Disability Alliance, 2020d, International Disability Alliance, 2020m). Many institutions and governments banned or restricted visitors during the pandemic and prevented residents from leaving, leading to increased isolation and cutting off disabled people from all social support







structures (Brennan et al., 2020), particularly if making contact by telephone was inaccessible to them (McKinney et al., 2020). The limitation of contact with the outside world also led to concerns regarding increased abuse and neglect in institutions, due to a breakdown in established monitoring and reporting mechanisms (Brennan et al., 2020, Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, United Nations ESCWA and World Health Organization, 2020). Disabled children may be particularly vulnerable to abuse or having their basic rights violated and many governments did not take sufficient measures to protect those in institutions (Brennan et al., 2020). In Brazil and Chile, measures to protect care home residents were recommendations rather than mandatory legislation (Sakellariou et al., 2020). Pregel and Le Fanu (2020) highlight the need to prevent increased institutionalisation of disabled people as a way of preventing the spread of COVID-19, and ensuring alternative arrangements are in place. Women, girls, non-binary, and gender non-conforming persons are at particular risk of institutionalisation due lower employment rates and receiving less family support than men (Women Enabled International, 2020). In South Africa, closure of some institutions led to disabled people being sent home to families who were not prepared or able to care for them (McKinney et al., 2020).

7.4.2. Migrants and refugees

The number of international migrants is estimated at almost 272 million globally, or 3.5% of the world's population, with nearly two thirds being labour migrants and 74% of working age (20-64 years) (International Organization for Migration, 2019). While the literature review did not identify any reports specifically covering the impact on disabled migrants, emerging evidence indicates that that the pandemic has had a highly negative impact on the living and working conditions of migrants (World Health Organization, 2020a). An initial analysis in April 2020 suggested migrants are at increased likelihood of contracting COVID-19, not accessing appropriate care, experiencing severe symptoms, suffering psychosocial impacts, and having their livelihood and income security affected (Guadagno, 2020). These factors were exacerbated by migrants' living and working conditions, as well stigmatisation and xenophobia, particularly against Asian migrants, including internal migrants in China (Guadagno, 2020). A survey of 30,000 refugee and migrants across the globe found that more than half of respondents were experiencing greater levels of depression, fear, anxiety and loneliness, and many were less likely to seek medical care if experiencing COVID-19 symptoms, with the most common reasons being financial constraints and fear of deportation (World Health Organization, 2020a).

It is estimated that 79.5 million people are forcibly displaced worldwide, including 26 million refugees (UNHCR, 2020). Out of these, 22 million, or 84%, of all refugees, live in LMICs in Asia and Africa (Khattab and Mahmud, 2019). In 2019 two-thirds of all refugees came from just five countries: Syria, Venezuela, Afghanistan, South Sudan and Myanmar (Amnesty International). In addition, in June 2020, it was estimated that one-third of those internally displaced live in the 10 countries most 'at risk' of COVID-19 (United Nations, 2020c). Data from Lebanon, which hosts the largest percentage of refugees worldwide relative to its national population (UNHCR, 2020), suggests that disabled people and their families who live in refugee camps were particularly







affected by the pandemic, with 93% of Syrian households and 78% of Palestinian households not being able to meet their needs, compared to 69% of Lebanese households (Clugston and Spearing, 2020). Palestinian refugees in Lebanon were also three times more likely to die with COVID-19 (Azhari, 2021). Young people in refugee camps demonstrated less knowledge of the pandemic (Małachowska et al., 2020) and in Ethiopia were excluded from testing initiatives, which focussed on residential housing only (Emirie et al., 2020). Overcrowding, a lack of access to water and sanitation, and absent healthcare infrastructure also increased risk of infection and unmanageable spread in formal and informal refugee camps and slums (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Samaila et al., 2020, Thompson, 2020, Xafis, 2020). Several reports suggest that migrants and refugees were anxious about seeking medical attention due to worry about associated costs or being deported (Pertek et al., 2020, World Health Organization, 2020a). It also highlights the amplified insecurity felt by many women as bureaucratic processes slowed down or came to a stop, adding to uncertainty about their legal status and preventing them from accessing support such as financial assistance or public housing, both in LMICs and in Global North countries (Pertek et al., 2020).

7.4.3. Prisons

Disabled people are also overrepresented in prisons (Jones and Tulloch, 2020, Sakellariou et al., 2020), in particular those with psychosocial and intellectual impairments (United Nations Human Rights, 2020). Conditions in prison, including a lack of nutrition and medical care, can also exacerbate or lead to new health conditions (Jones and Tulloch, 2020, de Oliveira Andrade, 2020). There is little data on the impact of disabled people incarcerated in prisons or immigration detention centres, and general data on rates of infection and death on prison populations are not always trustworthy (de Oliveira Andrade, 2020). The risks faced by prisoners are similar to other incarcerated populations, including overcrowding (Sakellariou et al., 2020), with many prisons operating significantly above capacity (Jones and Tulloch, 2020). Risk is also exacerbated through poor infection control (United Nations Human Rights, 2020), a lack of hygiene facilities (Jones and Tulloch, 2020), and a heightened potential for isolation and abuse (Rohwerder, 2020d). Jones and Tulloch (2020) also highlight the impact of visiting suspension both on prisoners' right of access to courts and legal representation, and on psychosocial wellbeing due to not being to receive family visitors. Many countries have taken measures to reduce numbers of incarcerated people in prisons through early release of prisoners. Release of pre-trial detainees has been widely advocated as an effective measure to reduce numbers, as they outnumber convicted people in at least 46 countries, and their release is likely to be consistent with the Tokyo Rules and the Bangkok Rules to avoid unnecessary imprisonment (Jones and Tulloch, 2020).

7.4.4. Homelessness

Homeless people are more likely to be disabled (Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), and data suggests that disabled people were at increased risk of becoming homeless as a result of the pandemic (Brennan et al., 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), with examples of disabled people being evicted as families could no longer care from them (Brennan et al., 2020), or fleeing domestic abuse (Panda et al.,

43









2020). Homeless people are at higher risk of infection ((Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020), food insecurity (Xafis, 2020), and particularly for disabled women, exploitation and abuse (Meaney-Davis et al., 2020). A survey of that nearly 40% migrants living on the streets or in insecure accommodations had been affected by perceived discrimination (World Health Organization, 2020a). There are also reports of homeless disabled people being forcibly institutionalised during the pandemic (Brennan et al., 2020, CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020). While reports highlight the urgent need to provide homeless disabled people with shelter, water, food, and healthcare (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020, World Health Organization, 2020b), it is important to note that many existing homeless shelter further increase the risk of infection due to overcrowding and the inability to physically distance (United Nations Human Rights, 2020, Xafis, 2020). As Xafis (2020) points out, some cities have taken measures to providing hotel accommodation for homeless people.

7.4.5. Deinstitutionalisation

The harrowing reports emerging from care homes and other institutionalised settings have caused a group of disability organisations to call for emergency institutionalisation (Brennan et al., 2020). The demand includes the involvement of disabled people in these plans, as well as a ban on new admissions and the reallocation of funding from institutions to community supports (Brennan et al., 2020) This is supported by the United Nations who have recommended the acceleration of deinstitutionalisation with concrete timelines and milestones (United Nations, 2020b). Two OECD countries so far, Switzerland and Spain, have taken steps to move disabled people out of institutions and living with family (United Nations Human Rights, 2020).

7.5. Transport and infrastructure

7.5.1. Public transport

Lack of available transport was highlighted in surveys as a key issue during the pandemic, with 17% of disabled respondents in the Philippines reporting it as a significant unmet need (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020), as well as 50.1% in a global survey by the World Blind Union (Zayed et al., 2020). For blind people, access barriers to public transports were increased through new regulations, changes in schedules, different levels of street noise, and guide dogs not being trained to ensure physical distancing (Zayed et al., 2020). Disabled people who rely on public transport due to being unable to drive face attitudinal as well as physical barriers, with buses unwilling to stop for disabled people were significantly impacted by disruption in public transport provision as a result of not being considered during service planning (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, International Disability Alliance, 2020i). Many disabled people for whom public transport is inaccessible or who live in rural locations rely on taxis or minibuses, however these are also often inaccessible for wheelchair users and require physical assistance to lift the disabled person, which is no longer possible with physical distancing (International Disability Alliance, 2020q). One positive example from the Philippines report the establishment of







helplines and a dedicated transport service for disabled people to access education and healthcare services (Cahapay, 2020b).

7.5.2. Built environment

Even prior to the COVID-19, staying at home was the default for many disabled people (Goggin, 2020), due to inaccessibility of the built environment (King et al., 2019, Senjam, 2020). Inaccessible roads and footpaths were identified as a problem in two reports, preventing women in India to go shopping for food independently while public transport was unavailable (Goyal et al., 2020), and leading to blind adolescent girls getting injured due to a lack of assistance in navigating insecure roads (Emirie et al., 2020). Disabled people faced different challenges depending on whether they lived in a city where they may be four times more likely to be injured or die than non-disabled people due to pollution, and poor urban health policy, planning and practice (Pineda and Corburn, 2020), or in rural areas, which were often left out from COVID-19 responses (Rohwerder, 2020d) and put disabled people at increased risk of isolation. Hillgrove and Pryor (2020) also report that in Indonesia, migration was higher for disabled people, and particularly disabled women and those with lower levels of education, with many moving within or between cities.

7.5.3. IT infrastructure

Information and communication technologies (ICT) have been crucial for most people globally to limit the impact of physical distancing and the isolation arising this, but for disabled people, who are most likely to be confined to the home for longer periods, digital participation has been especially crucial (ECLAC, 2020, Goggin, 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020c, Rohwerder, 2020d). In addition, many services, such as bank services, have moved entirely online (Goyal et al., 2020). However, disabled people are less likely to have access to a mobile phone or internet compared to non-disabled people (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). This is particularly the case in rural areas, with data from India suggesting that while 69% of the disabled population lives in rural locations, internet penetration is only at 21% in these areas (Goyal et al., 2020). For those who have access to mobile phones, purchasing credit is often another barrier (Gartrell et al., 2020, Małachowska et al., 2020). This has led to calls for the urgent investment by governments in improving access to ICT for all, and particularly disabled people, including children (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020, ECLAC, 2020). This includes improving infrastructure and providing devices, as well as investing in training to improve both general and digital literacy among disabled people (ECLAC, 2020, Goyal et al., 2020). In addition, work is required to ensure that new digital tools are developed with accessibility built in from the start (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020).









7.6. Access to food and medicine

7.6.1. Access to shops

Despite some shops taking measures to implement specific hours for disabled people to shop (World Health Organization, 2020b), the significant disruption to transport, personal assistance, limited opening hours, and the requirement to 'shield' at home to protect themselves from infection, disabled people faced significant barriers to physically accessing shops and markets to purchase essentials, such as food and medicine (Banks et al., 2021, Zayed et al., 2020). A survey from Nepal estimates that 54.1% of disabled people were at risk of scarcity of essential items (National Federation of the Disabled Nepal, 2020), while in a pan-African survey 49% of disability NGOs, respondents indicated that disabled people in their countries had run out of household essentials (CBR Africa Network (CAN), 2020). Some disabled people were forced to break curfew rules in order to access essential supplies due to lack of exceptions made for disabled people (Brennan et al., 2020). While the WHO (2020b) recommended that disabled people buy essentials such as food, cleaning supplies, and medication in bulk, this was in practice not an option for many due to poverty (Gartrell et al., 2020) and a lack preparation time due to the sudden nature of many lockdowns (International Disability Alliance, 2020s).

7.6.2. Online shopping and delivery services

Home delivery has been highlighted as a crucial service to ensure disabled people's access to essential items, including food, medicine, and cleaning and hygiene products (Goyal et al., 2020, United Nations ESCAP, 2020). This is echoed by the WHO's (2020b) advice to disabled people to make purchase online or by phone and have them delivered, where possible. However, delivery services brought with them new sets of barriers (Goyal et al., 2020), including the need to be able to have access to digital technology and to be comfortable with online purchases (Giang and Huong, 2020), the lack of access to credit cards and unavailability of deliveries to informal settlements (McKinney et al., 2020), and the disruption of delivery services as a result of COVID-19 (Banks et al., 2021). Where doorstep deliveries are made, disabled people may also struggle to get additional support, with one woman reporting being injured after having to carry her shopping inside herself despite being unable to do so (Goyal et al., 2020).

7.6.3. Nutrition

The impact of food poverty and inability to access shops meant that several disabled people and families reported only eating a full meal once a day (International Disability Alliance, 2020h) or even once every other day (Ahmed et al., 2020) in order to ration food. The struggle to afford sufficient nutrition also led to poor dietary diversity for many (Goyal et al., 2020), as food relief provided by governments was often limited to large quantities of rice or bread (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, International Disability Alliance, 2020p, Meaney-Davis, 2020, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020). A disabled adolescent girl from Gaza reported no longer having access to vegetables or fruit (Jones et al., 2020). A survey in Nepal found that 23









percent of households had inadequate food consumption and 7 percent of households had poor dietary diversity, including 46 percent of children between 6 and 23 months of age. (Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development, 2020). The lack of dietary diversity is likely to increase the risk of further illness due to inadequate nutrients (Gahatraj, 2020) or having to eat certain foods despite to food intolerances (International Disability Alliance, 2020q).

7.6.4. Good practice

Some positive examples reported in literature included the establishment of common kitchens serving cooked food and delivering dry rations in the Indian state of Kerala, alleviating food poverty in the state (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020). In China, community groups were established via instant messaging apps to coordinate the local delivery of supplies from the government (Qi and Wang, 2020). Some disabled people have also taken the initiative to buy and deliver food, medical supplies, and face masks to those in need who were not receiving government relief (Goyal et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020k).

7.7. Violence and abuse

7.7.1. Increase in violence

Disabled people were at greater risk of violence and abuse (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Lund, 2020). Emerging data indicates that violence against disabled people increases during the pandemic, in particularly abuse of disabled women and girls. An international survey received 25 testimonies of grave human rights abuses against women (Brennan et al., 2020), while in another 22 women and non-binary people reported feat for their personal safety (Women Enabled International, 2020). In Nepal, 28% of respondents reported abuse based on their disability or gender (Shrestha, 2020). A report from India indicated an almost 100% increase in domestic violence during the beginning of the lockdown (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020), while in Nigeria, reports from 23 states showed a 56% increase in violence during just two weeks of lockdown (Samaila et al., 2020). In Palestine, 47% surveyed by a women's organisation reported an increased in gender-based violence, with children in 40% of households being maltreated, and older disabled women and women with caring responsibilities being at particular risk (Aisha Association for Woman and Child Protection, 2020). In Togo, Humanity & Inclusion (2020a) report 33 cases of violence against homeless people, who have a high prevalence of disability.

7.7.2. Domestic, caregiver, and sexual violence

As a result of the prolonged isolation in confined spaces, along with economic stresses (Pearce, 2020), many households reported any increase in tensions and conflict in households (Goyal et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020f, Jones et al., 2020), particularly in households with children (Aisha Association for Woman and Child Protection, 2020). While boys and men were









sometimes allowed to escape family problems by leaving the house, women and girls were more likely to be completely confined to the home (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, Jones et al., 2020, UN Women Africa, 2020). A number of first-hand reports are emerging of disabled women and children being subjected to increased domestic abuse during lockdown, while also having being unable to access family or government support (International Disability Alliance, 2020f, International Disability Alliance, 2020q, Panda et al., 2020). Disabled people may also be at additional risk of caregiver abuse, involving the withholding of assistance with essential daily living activities, such as eating, getting dressed, and access to mobility devices (Lund, 2020). Several disabled women in an international survey reported they found requests for assistance harder to make during the pandemic, with one stating that a family member refused to deliver medication to her (Women Enabled International, 2020). In India, family abandoned a deaf person with suspected COVID-19 at medical centre after giving fake contact details (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020). Lund (2020) highlight that disabled people are usually advised to have backup caregivers in place in case of abuse by a primary caregiver, but that this is unlikely to be viable during a pandemic. While it is acknowledged in the reviewed literature that disabled girls and women are at particular risk of sexual violence and exploitation (UN Women Africa, 2020), including being forced into survival or transactional sex (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020), there is limited data on this, except for four reports of rape in Nepal, including a 10-year-old disabled girl (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020).

7.7.3. Police violence

The COVID-19 Disability Rights Monitor survey received 370 testimonies across all continents highlighting the global prevalence of police violence and harassment against disabled people (Brennan et al., 2020). There are multiple reports of excessive forced being used to enforce lockdowns and curfews (Brennan et al., 2020, Goyal et al., 2020, Panda et al., 2020), including deaf people being shot by police after not responding to verbal commands (Brennan et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020i), others being harassed or beaten while looking for food (Brennan et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020), and being denied a personal assistant while shopping (Zayed et al., 2020). Consequently, disabled people expressed living in fear of the police and being afraid to leave their homes (Brennan et al., 2020, Emirie et al., 2020).

7.7.4. Discrimination and stigma

Despite efforts to destigmatise disability, prejudices and inaccurate beliefs about disabled people continue to be held in many cultures, including disability being viewed as a curse (Emirie et al., 2020, King et al., 2019) or involved in witchcraft (International Disability Alliance, 2020I). This prejudice aggravates the impact of the pandemic by increasing the risk of discrimination when accessing healthcare services, employment, and education, as well as increasing the risk of violence and undermining their capacity and autonomy (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). Several reports indicate that disabled people have been discriminated against due to the assumption that they are more likely to be infected with COVID-19 (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, International Disability









Alliance, 2020l, Meaney-Davis, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020d, Women Enabled International, 2020) . Rohwerder (2020d) highlights that other marginalised groups have also been stigmatised in similar ways, in particularly the LGBTQ community who have been blamed for the pandemic in a number of countries, as well as racial and ethnic minorities, foreigners, homeless people, sex workers, and people living in poverty. Young disabled people have reported experiencing increased stigma in public spaces, and being verbally abused for wearing masks (Emirie et al., 2020). Other first-hand accounts include a disabled person being given money by strangers who assume he must be a beggar (International Disability Alliance, 2020h) and a disabled person being patronised and treated like a child due to his psychosocial impairment (International Disability Alliance, 2020l). This stigma has led to some disabled people going out less or not using their assistive devices in order to minimise potential abuse (Zayed et al., 2020), while others may not identify as disabled due to the associated stigma, and therefore miss out on support (International Disability Alliance, 2020q).

7.7.5. Access to reporting, support, and justice

The considerable barriers faced by disabled people to reporting violence and abuse, including fear of not being believed, fear of retaliation from the perpetrator or care systems, and inaccessible reporting mechanisms, were increased as a result of the pandemic and its impact on social life (Lund, 2020). As the perpetrators of abuse are often family members or caregivers, disabled people are less likely to report for fear of losing their access to care, which was exacerbated through the lack of care alternatives during the pandemic (Goyal et al., 2020, Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a). Reporting may also put disabled people at higher risk of being institutionalised, and increase their risk of contracting COVID-19 in an institutional setting (Lund, 2020). Lockdowns meant that disabled people often had little privacy, making the reporting of abuse more difficult (Goyal et al., 2020, Lund, 2020, Xafis, 2020). Disabled people in institutions are also more likely to have limited contacts with friends or family, reducing the ability report abuse (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). Some disabled people cannot access reporting hotlines or websites due to their impairments and shelters are also often inaccessible (Goyal et al., 2020, United Nations Human Rights, 2020). Poverty may also be a barrier for seeking support if disabled people are unable to afford transport to escape an abusive situation (Pearce, 2020). The literature highlights the need for disability-awareness training for police and law enforcement authorities and measures taken to ensure access to justice for disabled people where abuse occurs (Brennan et al., 2020).









8. Pandemic management

This section will focus on the management of and planning of responses to the COVID-19 pandemic by governments and international agencies in relation to the specific requirements and barriers faced by disabled people. Previous literature on management of disasters and emergencies, as well as development and humanitarian programmes, have highlighted the importance of considering the needs of disabled people and involve them in planning processes, and the fact that this has rarely happened in practice (King et al., 2019, Görgens and Ziervogel, 2018, Campbell et al., 2009). The emerging literature suggests that this has yet again been replicated during the COVID-19 pandemic, with most countries neither considering nor consulting with disabled people in the management of the pandemic. In the past, disabled people have sometimes been included with 'vulnerable' groups where their specifc needs were lost (King et al., 2019). Where disabled people were included in planning, their needs were often considered in isolation and plans were not necessarily implemented or enforceable. Adequate planning was also significantly hindered by a lack of data which made it difficult to identify disabled people and assess the impact on them to identify the impact on them.

8.1. Consideration of disabled people's needs

Multiple reports indicate that a number of governments did not take measures to ensure access to food, medication, and other essential supplies specifically for disabled people during the pandemic (Brennan et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020b, Qi and Hu, 2020). Many countries a adopted a "one-size-fits-all approach" (Goggin, 2020) to pandemic management which put disabled communities at greater risk by neglecting or deprioritising the specific requirements of disabled people (Goyal et al., 2020, International Disability Alliance, 2020c), rather than applying a universal design approach (Gartrell et al., 2020). Where measures were introduced to address the requirements of disabled people, they were not necessarily implemented at local level (Sakellariou et al., 2020), and were often made as recommendations or guidelines rather than enshrined in law, making them difficult to enforce (International Disability Alliance, 2020b, National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, Qi and Hu, 2020, Qi and Wang, 2020, Sakellariou et al., 2020). Measures also frequently failed to recognise that disabled people are a heterogeneous group and did not sufficiently address the needs of different types of impairments or the intersections with other marginalised identities (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020). This included a lack of consideration for the link between disability and poverty (Sakellariou et al., 2020), and the differing needs of disabled women (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020), indigenous people (Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Sakellariou et al., 2020), those living in rural locations, and children (Brennan et al., 2020). However, a positive example emerge from Peru, where legistation was introduced specifically protecting the rights of disabled people and ensuring equal access to health, employment, education, and social protection, with explicit reference to the UNCRPD (Sakellariou et al., 2020). China also introduced additional mechanisms to facilitate the enforcement of disabled people's rights in the pandemic (Qi and Wang, 2020).







8.1.1. Consultation of disabled people

Existing literature from both disaster planning and management, and development fields highlight the need not only for consideration of disabled people's needs, but for the need of actively involving disabled people in the planning process. Disabled people often have unique insights into their own needs in the event of an emergency (King et al., 2019), as well as experience of making adjustments and accommodations during difficult circumstances, and assessing risks to overcome barriers (Abbott and Porter, 2013, Guidry-Grimes et al., 2020, Pineda and Corburn, 2020). Disabled people should therefore be involved in policymaking through participatory approaches that enable co-production of policy to ensure they are fit for purpose (Gartrell et al., 2020, Görgens and Ziervogel, 2018, Pineda and Corburn, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020). This is enshrined in the global disability rights motto "Nothing about us without us". The role of DPOs during the COVID-19 needs to be particularly highlighted, as many challenged the lack of disability-inclusive measures, as well as providing support and coordinating relief efforts (Brennan et al., 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020, Pregel and Le Fanu, 2020, Zayed et al., 2020), despite encountering resistance from official authorities in some instances (Gartrell et al., 2020, Poudel and Subedi, 2020).

8.2. Data

Accurate data that is segregated by disability is crucial to ensure efficient planning and allocation of resources for disabled people (Campbell et al., 2009, Gartrell et al., 2020), including but not limited to the rate of infection (Qi and Wang, 2020), returns to school (UNICEF, 2020b), and the effects of social isolation (Castres and O'Reilly, 2020). Despite this, the literature reviewed highlights that several countries do not collect data on the disability status of those affected by COVID-19 (ECLAC, 2020, Gurung and Gahatraj, 2020), and disaggregated data is also missing for the population of disabled people in institutions (ECLAC, 2020) and the socio-economic impact of COVID-19 on disabled people (Humanity & Inclusion, 2020a, Meaney-Davis, 2020). Further, the literature highlights a number of challenges regarding the collection of data in LMICs including: a reluctance to identify as disabled due to stigma and discrimination (Berghs, 2015b, Gartrell et al., 2020, Meaney-Davis et al., 2020, Rohwerder, 2020a, Washington Group on Disability Statistics, 2020) and a lack of diagnostics and screening for disabled people, particular children (Cahapay, 2020b, Rohwerder, 2020a). The use of diagnosis as a basis of determining disability is especially challenging when healthcare services are limited, as well as reinforcing a medical model approach (Banks et al., 2021). In addition, where data is collected, quality is variable as methods used to gather data are not consistent (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, Rohwerder, 2020a), leading to significant underestimations of prevalence levels of disability (Rohwerder, 2020a). Bias against disabled people can also taint the quality of data, as highlighted by the statistic that 48.5% of death certificates for adults with IDD inaccurately reported their impairment as the cause of death (Sabatello, 2020). The Washington Group questions, which are used to measure the implementation of SDG goals as well as in humanitarian context to gather large-scale data of disability prevalence are recommended by several authors as a way of ensuring that the data gathered on disability and COVID-19 is consistent (Hillgrove and Pryor, 2020, UNICEF, 2020a). Guidance has also been issued by the Washington Group on the application of the Washington Group in a COVID-19 context (Washington Group on







Disability Statistics, 2020). In addition, Bernard et al. (2020) have developed a COV-DIS survey template designed to measure the impact of the pandemic on general and psychological health, instrumental activities of daily living, social isolation, financial strain, and information and transportation access.







Disability Under Siege

9. Discussion

This discussion will provide a critical analysis of the types of evidence that has emerged and seek to identify gaps of where further research and evidence is needed. It will also discuss two of the emerging themes from the literature review; firstly, the de-prioritisation of disabled people during the pandemic and secondly, the tendency for disability to continue to be viewed in narrow medical terms. There will also be a discussion of the limitations of the review and its methods.

9.1. Types of evidence emerging

As highlighted in the methods section, the studies and reports included in this literature review were distributed unevenly across the four sectors of Health, Education, Economy, and Community, with the health and economy being the most heavily populated sectors. This reflects the findings by Saran et al. (2020) in their mapping of studies assessing the effectiveness of interventions for disabled in LMICs, who found that most studies focussed on health interventions, with relatively few focusing on social inclusion and empowerment. This suggests that, despite disability activists advocating for a move away from medical or deficit models, that disability is still often framed as a medical issue. In addition, the heavy focus on economy highlights the strong link between disability and poverty, with most papers in this section focussing on social protection and economic survival during the pandemic. However, it is important to recognise that the distinction between the four sectors is often tenuous and not clear cut, highlighting the interconnectedness of our everyday lives. Food poverty, for example, spans the three sectors of Economy (being able to afford food), Community (physical access to food), and Health (impact on nutrition). While research and funding initiatives may focus on specific issues, it is therefore crucial to consider the bigger picture and understand the interconnectedness of different societal systems in creating structural disadvantage.

The distribution of literature highlights a relative absence of academic research into COVID-19 and disability, with twice as much 'grey' literature as academic texts on COVID-19. This is likely due in part to the longer times required to obtain funding, plan and conduct research, and go through peer review and publishing processes. Most of the 'grey' literature emerged early on in the pandemic, whereas most academic papers were published in July and August 2020. The lack of academic literature means there are considerable gaps in research evidence on several of the topics covered; in particular, return to school, employment and unemployment, and community impacts, including isolation, and access to food and digital infrastructure. This type of evidence is just beginning to emerge in a UK context at the time of writing (February 2021). However, the literature review also found that very little research evidence focussing on the impact on disability as a social phenomenon emerged following disasters and emergencies. It is therefore crucial that for COVID-19 the gathering of evidence on both the immediate and long-term effects of the pandemic in LMICs are prioritised by research funders and other stakeholders, particularly the historical and current lack of data highlighted in 8.2.

59% of the evidence comes from 'grey' literature, in particular NGO reports and guidance from UN agencies (as discussed in 3.3), which often emerged right at the start of the pandemic. Several of the reports therefore discuss potential risks to disabled people rather than presenting empirical









evidence or discussing concrete examples. Where data has been gathered early on in the pandemic, this may not necessarily represent the experience of disabled people as the pandemic progressed, and additional issues may have improved been exacerbated. Governments may have taken different approaches to management in subsequent ways of the pandemic, and it is crucial to recognise the cumulative impact over time on both physical and mental health of disabled people.

9.2. Gaps

This literature has identified a number of gaps in the current evidence across all four sectors of society, where further evidence and research is required to gain a holistic view of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

9.2.1. Health

In Health, the most richly served section in this review, the gaps are around the long-term effects of the pandemic on disabled people and on healthcare systems in LMICs. This includes the impact of "Long COVID", which describes the longer-term lingering of symptoms following the initial infection, with the most frequent symptoms being fatigue, post-exertional malaise, and cognitive dysfunction (Wise, 2021). Long COVID has the potential to increase significantly the number of people of those either temporarily or permanently impaired, and may require multisystemic rehabilitation facilities to be set up (Wise, 2021), in addition to rapidly increasing the number of disabled people across the globe. Other long-term effects to examine include the long-term impact on healthcare systems in LMICs and disabled people's access to them, as well as an increase in both levels and numbers of impairments as a result of cancelled or disrupted services, both due to deterioration of existing impairments, and creation of new chronic impairment due to conditions going untreated. A further crucial area for health is around the access of vaccination for disabled people in LMICs. Currently in February 2021, few LMICs have begun the vaccination process, as many lack both access to vaccines and the infrastructure to carry out mass vaccination of the adult population (Figueroa et al., 2021). While the WHO has recommended the inclusion of disabled people as a priority group in its roadmap for prioritisation of vaccination schemes (World Health Organization), this has not always been applied consistently in Global North countries including the UK, with confusion about which disabled people are included or excluded, and decisions often left to an individual doctor's discretion (Marsh et al., 2021). This literature review has identified a systematic deprioritisation of disabled people's needs in accessing healthcare, so evidence is crucial to identify whether this is replicated in the delivery of vaccination programmes.

9.2.2. Education

In Education, empirical evidence is urgently required on the impact of school closures, including return to school/drop out rates of disabled children, as well as the attainment gaps as a result of disabled pupils' lack of access to remote learning. There is also currently a lack of data on the impact of school closures on disabled teachers and disabled parents, with virtually all research









focussing on the impact of disabled children. This review was unable to identify any literature relating to tertiary and adult education. While there is some evidence emerging from the Global North, primarily focussing on the alternative modes of delivery and access of technology, this cannot be assumed to be transferrable to a Global South context due to the differing availability of information technology access. There is however a wider need for research into disabled people's experience of using accessible technology in different contexts, and from different impairment perspectives, to identify how technology is currently being used, particularly by those with limited access, and what technological advances are needed to ensure technology can truly be accessed by all.

9.2.3. Economy

In the Economy, there is a lack of quantitative data on the impact of the pandemic on disabled people's livelihoods, in particular poverty rates, and both short-term and long-term impacts on disability employment rates. In addition, none of the papers reviewed discussed in detail the impact of the pandemic on unpaid and care work. Disabled people are receivers of care as well as providers (as parents or family members), and often both at the same time. Care work remains a highly gendered issue, with many women's opportunities to take part in paid work being constrained by the burden of unpaid and care work (Chopra and Zambelli, 2017)). The increase in care work required as a result of school closures and disruption of formal care services has the potential to have disproportionately impacted on women, including disabled women. There also wider research challenges around way in which development programmes are inclusive of disability, and support disability-specific initiatives. The current spending on this is low and ongoing data will be needed to identify how post-COVID development funding may affect the funding available for disability-focussed programmes. In addition, this report has identified further data on access to social protection for disabled people, and whether there will be any long-term change to this as a result of the pandemic.

9.2.4. Community

In the community, while there are some evidence of grave human rights abuses taking place against disabled people in institutions, more investigations are required to gain both quantitative and qualitative evidence of the impact of the pandemic on disabled people incarcerated in institutions and prisons, as well as data on the impact on both refugees and disabled people, which needs to included disaggregated data on disability. Some areas of community participation were completely absent in the literature, including religion, such as access to places of worship and religious practices, as well as no discussion of access to leisure, including access to parks, playgrounds, and public spaces, as well as to culture, arts, and sports. Both are crucial to enable to disabled people fully participate in society. However, access to arts and sports in particular are discussed only in a rehabilitation context, highlighting the medicalisation of disability rather than allowing disabled people to participate in these activities for pleasure as humans. Finally, COVID-19 has brought about new infrastructures, including services being delivered remotely. While the literature has









acknowledged the challenges of remote services both in terms of access to and accessibility of technology, this has also brought about opportunities through an increased flexibility which enabled disabled people to engage in work, education, health, and society from their homes. More research is required to identify the longevity of these new forms of access to ensure that disabled people and society as a whole is able to benefit from this increased flexibility, rather than returning 'back to normal'.

9.3. Emerging theme 1 – deprioritisation of disability

The first major theme emerging from this literature is the de-prioritisation of disability in both planning and service delivery during the pandemic. This literature review has identified a considerable body of existing literature in development studies, disaster and risk management studies, and disability studies, highlighting the importance of consultation and involvement of disabled people in planning and management. However, there is little evidence that this has happened in previous disasters and emergencies or that substantial lessons have been learned in the aftermath, which is underscored by the lack of empirical evidence on the impact of these disasters on disabled people. This review identified only 14 relevant articles focussing in detail on the impact of previous disasters and emergencies on disabled people in countries in the Global South.

While this neglect of considering disabled people is sometimes described as "forgotten" (Goyal et al., 2020) or being "left behind" (National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP), 2020, United Nations, 2020b), this suggests that the omission of disabled people in planning processes was accidental. However, it is important to highlight that governments who have signed up to the UNCRPD are aware of the importance of considering disabled people's additional barriers and specific requirements, and the need to involve disabled people has been identified many times in existing literature and policy reports. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that the lack of consideration for disabled people' needs was not an oversight, but that disabled people were not prioritised as they were considered less important. The de-prioritisation of services for disabled people as 'non-essential' perpetuates the continued discrimination and stigma of disabled people as 'less than' human. It is therefore important to address the systemic cultural and attitudinal barriers that leave disabled people an afterthought.

Work is required by governments, and NGOs to centre the needs and concerns of disabled people, as well as adopting universal design practices to ensure any services are accessible from the start to as many people as possible, rather than implementing access retrospectively. In order to achieve this, it is vital that experts on disabled people and accessibility lead in these planning processes – these experts are the disabled people themselves. The evidence on COVID-19 suggests that again disabled people were not consulted in most countries during the planning process, and in most cases their needs were not considered at all. Across all four sectors reviewed, there is a common theme that the barriers that disabled people face to accessing healthcare, education, employment, social protection, and to participate in the community, were not considered in pandemic planning, and that measures to ensure disabled people's access were usually either implemented







retrospectively, or not at all. This review therefore highlights once again the importance of cooperation and communication with disabled people to not only identify and involve them in the process of finding solutions as the default, but to implement mechanisms enabling disabled people to take the lead in voicing their concerns and leading on the pandemic management strategy.

9.4. Emerging theme 2 – 'medicalisation' of disability

The second theme emerging from this literature review is the continued focus on disability as a medical issue, rather than a social phenomenon of disadvantage. This is highlighted by the uneven distribution of topics in the texts selected for this review, with more than half of texts focussing on health as one of the three primary themes. Rather than the social model or CPRD definitions of disability, some of the papers use problematic definitions of disability based on a medical or deficit model. It is therefore crucial to ensure that any work comes from a perspective that recognises the social factors in the production of disability. In addition, disability is often treated as a monolith both in literature and pandemic planning, for example through a blanket description of disabled people as 'vulnerable' to COVID-19. It is crucial to understand that disability is a heterogenous experience and there will be significant differences in experiences based on types of impairment, cultural context, and intersecting identities or multiple marginalisations. Once again, the involvement of disabled people from a variety of backgrounds in both design and leading research will ensure a more balanced perspective in ensuring that research and reports represent the full breadth of the disabled experience.

More needs to be done to enable disabled people to be centred and leading on disability research. This is underscored by only a small amount of the 'grey' literature emerging from organisations of disabled people, while most of the reporting is carried out by NGOs, who are often international charities, despite the disability movement in the Global North highlighting the historic issue with the 'charity model' approach. In addition, a considerable body of disability research was identified during the initial searches of this literature review as it did not focus on disabled people, but rather centred non-disabled people by examining the impact of the pandemic on carers, parents, family members, and healthcare staff, often using negative narratives around the 'burden' that increased caring responsibilities caused for these groups. Finally, there was a marked absence of positive stories in the reports, with only few good practice examples or discussions of the potential for 'building back better'. There is a danger that purely negative reporting perpetuates stereotypes of disabled lives as 'tragic'. While the pandemic has had devastating consequences, there are also moments of hope, resilience, and survival to be found, not least in the role played by many disabled people's organisations in ensuring access to information and food for disabled people where they were failed by official government processes.

Research needs to take a holistic view of recognising the interconnections of different systems disadvantaging disabled experiences, including recognising that impairment is often created or exacerbated through poverty, a lack of access to education, employment, and healthcare, and wider geo-political contexts, including conflict, neo-colonialism, and capitalism (Berghs, 2015b, Jaffee, 2016). In order, to realise the human rights enshrined in the UNCRPD, it is therefore crucial to







understand the cumulative and interacting effect of these inclusions on disabled people in the Global South. As discussed in the literature review, while most of the text reviewed cover multiple topics across and recognise to some extent the cumulative and interconnected effect of exclusions from different systems, this holistic approach is crucial and needs to be continually emphasised in future research. The need for a holistic approach is made further by the complete absence of any research into access to religious worship, as well as leisure, including access to recreational spaces, culture, and sports. While there is rightly much focus on access to healthcare and economic support to ensure disabled people' survival, it is also important that disabled people's access to a full life with participation in all aspects of society is guaranteed.

9.5. Limitations

The comprehensiveness of this literature review in mapping out the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disabled people in LMICs is constrained by several limitations, Firstly, searches were conducted only in English and all search results were in English. This may have led to evidence in other languages being missed, and particularly risks excluding testimonies from disabled people on the ground, who may not have the knowledge or capital to publish their testimonies in English. As this review focussed on LMICs as a whole, it has also been difficult to consider in enough detail the nuances between different countries, regions, and cultures. Efforts have been made to highlight in texts whenever an experience was highly specific to a context, while also drawing out experiences common across the Global South.

While this literature review was led by researchers with lived experience of disability, the researchers were situated in the United Kingdom. This position of privilege means that researchers do not have first-hand experience of the pandemic in LMICs. To ensure input from disabled people in the Global South, an advisory group was set up to support the and gain feedback on the review as it developed.

Finally, the timeframes for the review have likely contributed to the lack of peer-reviewed academic evidence, as the longer timeframes for this type of research means that much had not yet emerged at the time of the review. While the researchers made efforts to identify and connect with ongoing research into COVID-19 and disabled people in the Global South, it is possible that there will be further research emerging that addresses some of the gaps identified in this literature. The reliance of this review on data from NGO reports, which may not follow established methods and approaches or use representative samples, means that the data the nature and quality of data may vary. However, clear themes and clusters of evidence emerged from across the literature, making it likely that the review has been effective in highlighting the key challenges impacting disabled people during the pandemic.









10. Conclusion and recommendations

The evidence reviewed and discussed in this literature review clearly indicates an exacerbation of existing barriers faced by disabled people across the world, and particularly in the Global South. It has highlighted that for many disabled people, COVID-19 was yet another additional concern, but that for many, access to healthcare, poverty, and violence, are just as life-threatening as the pandemic.

The review has identified significant discrimination in both access to healthcare and communication of essential public health information, an increase in barriers to education for disabled children, an increase in poverty and a lack of social protection, compounded by a rise in unemployment, and a rise of neglect, abuse, and isolation among disabled people in the community and particularly in institutions, prisons, and refugee camps. Where governments have taken action to limit the impact of the pandemic, disabled people have often been excluded or de-prioritised from any plans, and have not been involved. Furthermore, there is a worrying lack of data being collected at national and international level on impacts on disabled people, both in terms of infection and mortality rates, and the impact on poverty, employment, education, and isolation in the community. This means governments are unable to truly assess the impact and take mitigating action. This review has highlighted that there is an urgent need to both centre disabled people in all future planning, and to involve them in these planning processes. It has also emphasised the need to move away from a medical or deficit perspective on understanding disability, and a more holistic approach that considers the interconnections between different societal systems, as well as the wider geo-political contexts.

In order to address and mitigate the exacerbation of disabled people's oppression under COVID-19 and achieve a disability-inclusive recovery, we make the five following recommendations

- 1. Commissioning of further research into the gap areas identified in 9.2, with a particular focus on the long-term health and economic effects of COVID-19, vaccination processes, and collection of empirical data
- 2. Mapping of data currently being collected at national and international levels on disability COVID-19, who is collecting the data, and how it is used
- 3. Recognition and further research into the interconnectedness of different societal sectors and systems, and funding approaches aimed building long-term sustainable systems
- 4. Ongoing campaigns to de-stigmatise and de-medicalise disability and promote a social model, both in countries and in disability studies as a research field
- 5. Engagement of disabled people in contributing and leading on research, consultancy, and planning processes into a disability-inclusive recovery









11. References

- ABBOTT, D. & PORTER, S. 2013. Environmental hazard and disabled people: from vulnerable to expert to interconnected. *Disability & Society*, 28, 839-852.
- ABRAMS, T. & ABBOTT, D. 2020. Disability, Deadly Discourse, and Collectivity amid Coronavirus (COVID-19). *Scandinavian journal of disability research : SJDR*, 22, 168-174.
- ABU MOGHLI, M. & SHUAYB, M. 2020. Education under COVID-19 Lockdown: Reflections from Teachers, Students & Parents. Beirut, Lebanon: Centre for Lebanese Studies.
- AHMED, N., CHRISTENSEN, A., CAIN, E. & GARBETT, A. 2020. Covid-19: Double Jeopardy for People with Disabilities. Evidence on the impact of Covid-19 on people with disabilities in Bangladesh. ADD International.
- AISHA ASSOCIATION FOR WOMAN AND CHILD PROTECTION 2020. Impact of COVID 19 Health Crisis on Psychosocial Conditions of Women in the Gaza Strip: Gender Based Violence. Gaza, Palestine: Aisha Association for Woman and Child Protection.
- AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL. *The world's refugees in numbers* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/what-we-do/refugees-asylum-seekers-and-migrants/global-refugee-crisis-statistics-and-facts/</u> [Accessed 19/02/2021].
- ARAB ORGANIZATION OF PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES (AOPD) 2020. Call to Action: Inclusion of Women with Disabilities and Migrant Women Workers in Covid-19 Response and Recovery Plans. Beirut, Lebanon: Arab Organization of Persons with Disabilities (AOPD).
- AZEVEDO, J. P., HASAN, A., GOLDEMBERG, D., IQBAL, S. A. & GEVEN, K. 2020. Simulating the Potential Impacts of COVID-19 School Closures on Schooling and Learning Outcomes : A Set of Global Estimates. World Bank Group.
- AZHARI, T. 2021. Palestinian refugees in Lebanon three times more likely to die with COVID-19 [Online]. Thomson Reuters Foundation Available:

https://news.trust.org/item/20210216153654-lwurk/ [Accessed 19/02/2021].

- BANKS, L. M., DAVEY, C., SHAKESPEARE, T. & KUPER, H. 2021. Disability-inclusive responses to COVID-19: Lessons learnt from research on social protection in low- and middle-income countries. *World development*, 105178.
- BATTLE, D. E. 2015. Persons With Communication Disabilities in Natural Disasters, War, and/or Conflict. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 36, 231-240.
- BENIGNO, M. R., KLEINITZ, P., CALINA, L., ALCIDO, M. R., GOHY, B. & HALL, J. L. 2015. Responding to the health and rehabilitation needs of people with disabilities post-Haiyan. *Western Pacific Surveillance and Response*, 6.
- BERGHS, M. 2015a. Neoliberal policy, chronic corruption and disablement: biosecurity, biosocial risks and the creation of 'Ebola survivors'? *Disability & Society*, 31, 275-279.
- BERGHS, M. 2015b. Radicalising 'disability' in conflict and post-conflict situations. *Disability & Society*, 30, 743-758.
- BERNARD, A., WEISS, S., STEIN, J. D., ULIN, S. S., D'SOUZA, C., SALGAT, A., PANZER, K., RIDDERING, A., EDWARDS, P., MEADE, M., MCKEE, M. M. & EHRLICH, J. R. 2020. Assessing the impact of COVID-19 on persons with disabilities: development of a novel survey. *International journal* of public health, 65, 755-757.
- BRENNAN, C. S., ALLEN, S., ARNOLD, R., COJOCARIU, I. B., MILOVANOVIC, D. C., GURBAI, S., HARDY,
 A., KAWANO-CHIU, M., KOKIC, N., MGIJIMA-KONOPI, I., ROSENTHAL, E. & YOUSSEFIAN, E.
 2020. Disability rights during the pandemic: A global report on findings of the COVID-19
 Disability Rights Monitor. Validity Foundation.
- CAHAPAY, M. B. 2020a. How Filipino parents home educate their children with autism during COVID-19 period. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*.
- CAHAPAY, M. B. 2020b. Ushering children with disabilities in the 'new normal' post-COVID-19 period: collective actions in the Philippines. *Disability & Society*, 1-6.









CAMPBELL, V. A., GILYARD, J. A., SINCLAIR, L., STERNBERG, T. & KAILES, J. I. 2009. Preparing for and Responding to Pandemic Influenza: Implications for People With Disabilities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99, S294-S300.

CASTRES, P. & O'REILLY, M. 2020. Mitigating the Global Impact of Covid-19 whilst fulfilling the rights of persons with disabilities. *Leonard Cheshire Policy Briefing.* Leonard Cheshire.

- CBR AFRICA NETWORK (CAN) 2020. Report on the Impact of COVID-19 on Persons with Disabilities in Africa. CBR Africa Network (CAN).
- CHOPRA, D. & ZAMBELLI, E. 2017). No Time to Rest: Women's Lived Experiences of Balancing Paid Work and Unpaid Care Work. Brighton: IDS
- CHOUDHURY KAUL, S., SANDHU MANJIT, S. & ALAM, Q. 2021. The lepers, lunatics, the lame, the blind, the infirm and the making of asylums and benevolent charities: the Indian merchant class and disability in colonial India. *Journal of Management History*, ahead-of-print.
- CLUGSTON, N. & SPEARING, M. 2020. The likely impacts and risks of COVID-19 for people with disabilities in humanitarian contexts, and mitigation measures.: UK Aid Disability Inclusion Helpdesk.
- DE OLIVEIRA ANDRADE, R. 2020. Covid-19: Prisons exposed in Brazil's crisis. BMJ, 370, m2884.
- DISABILITY WORKING GROUP 2020. Fact sheet: The reality of persons with disabilities in the Gaza Strip during Corona pandemic. Disability Working Group.
- DONG, E., DU, H. & GARDNER, L. 2020. An interactive web-based dashboard to track COVID-19 in real time. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 20, 533-534.
- DROR, A. A., LAYOUS, E., MIZRACHI, M., DAOUD, A., EISENBACH, N., MOROZOV, N. G., SROUJI, S., AVRAHAM, K. B. & SELA, E. 2020. A lesson from COVID-19 on inaccessibility of web-based information for disabled populations worldwide. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- ECLAC 2020. COVID-19 Reports: Persons with disabilities and coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in Latin America and the Caribbean: status and guidelines. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Carribean.
- EMIRIE, G., IYASU, A., GEZAHEGNE, K., JONES, N., PRESLER-MARSHALL, E., TILAHUN, K., WORKNEH,
 F. & YADETE, W. 2020. Experiences of vulnerable urban youth under covid-19: the case of youth with disabilities. *COVID-19 Series Ethiopia Policy Brief.* London: Gender & Adolescence: Global Evidence.
- FERNANDEZ-DIAZ, E., IGLESIAS-SANCHEZ, P. P. & JAMBRINO-MALDONADO, C. 2020. Exploring WHO Communication during the COVID 19 Pandemic through the WHO Website Based on W3C Guidelines: Accessible for All? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health,* 17.
- FIGUEROA, J. P., BOTTAZZI, M. E., HOTEZ, P., BATISTA, C., ERGONUL, O., GILBERT, S., GURSEL, M., HASSANAIN, M., KIM, J. H., LALL, B., LARSON, H., NANICHE, D., SHEAHAN, T., SHOHAM, S., WILDER-SMITH, A., STRUB-WOURGAFT, N., YADAV, P. & KANG, G. 2021. Urgent needs of low-income and middle-income countries for COVID-19 vaccines and therapeutics. *The Lancet*, 397, 562-564.
- FUND, W. F. W., CBM & DFAT 2020. Disability inclusion and COVID-19: Guidance for WASH delivery: Guidance for Water for Women Fund implementing partners. *Guidance Note – COVID-19.* Melbourne, Australia: Water for Women Fund.
- GAHATRAJ, K. 2020. Dalits with disabilities hit hardest by lockdown in Nepal (Part 1) [Online]. Minority Rights. Available: <u>https://minorityrights.org/2020/07/21/covid19-dalits-nepal/</u> [Accessed 15/10/2020].
- GARTRELL, A., CALGARO, E., GODDARD, G. & SAORATH, N. 2020. Disaster experiences of women with disabilities: Barriers and opportunities for disability inclusive disaster risk reduction in Cambodia. *Global Environmental Change*, 64.









GENTILINI, U., ALMENFI, M., DALE, P., LOPEZ, A. V. & ZAFAR, U. 2020. Social Protection and Jobs Responses to COVID-19: A Real-Time Review of Country Measures "Living paper" version 13. World Bank Group, UNICEF.

GIANG, L. T. H. & HUONG, N. T. T. 2020. CARE Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19: VIETNAM. Care.

- GOGGIN, G. 2020. Disability, communication, and life itself in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Sociology Review*, 29, 168-177.
- GÖRGENS, T. & ZIERVOGEL, G. 2018. From "No One Left Behind" to putting the last first: Centring the voices of disabled people in resilience work. *In:* WATERMEYER, B., MCKENZIE, J. & SWARTZ, L. (eds.) *The Palgrave Handbook of Disability and Citizenship in the Global South.*
- GOYAL, N., RAGHAVAN, S. & KOTHAR, K. 2020. Neglected and Forgotten: Women with Disabilities during the Covid Crisis in India. Sightsavers, Rising Flame.
- GUADAGNO, L. 2020. Migrants and the COVID-19 pandemic: An initial analysis. *Migration Research Series.* Geneva, Switzerland: International Organization for Migration (IOM).
- GUIDRY-GRIMES, L., SAVIN, K., STRAMONDO, J. A., REYNOLDS, J. M., TSAPLINA, M., BURKE, T. B.,
 BALLANTYNE, A., KITTAY, E. F., STAHL, D., SCULLY, J. L., GARLAND-THOMSON, R., TARZIAN,
 A., DORFMAN, D. & FINS, J. J. 2020. Disability Rights as a Necessary Framework for Crisis
 Standards of Care and the Future of Health Care. *The Hastings Center report*, 50, 28-32.
- GURUNG, P. & GAHATRAJ, K. 2020. COVID-19 and Its impact on Persons with Disabilities and Marginalized Groups in Nepal. National Indigenous Disabled Women Association Nepal (NIDWAN).
- HASHEMI, G., WICKENDEN, M., BRIGHT, T. & KUPER, H. 2020. Barriers to accessing primary healthcare services for people with disabilities in low and middle-income countries, a Meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1-14.
- HILLGROVE, T. & PRYOR, W. 2020. Experiences of people with disabilities in COVID-19: A summary of current evidence. Canberra, Australia: Australian Aid, DID4All.
- HINES, R. I. 2007. Natural Disasters and Gender Inequalities: The 2004 Tsunami and the Case of India. *Race, Gender & Class,* 14, 60-68.
- HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH. 2020. Lebanon: People with Disabilities Overlooked in Covid-19 [Online]. Beirut: Human Rights Watch. Available: <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/11/lebanon-people-disabilities-overlooked-covid-19</u> [Accessed 15/10/2020].
- HUMANITY & INCLUSION 2020a. COVID-19 in humanitarian contexts: no excuses to leave persons with disabilities behind! Evidence from HI's operations in humanitarian settings. Humanity & Inclusion.
- HUMANITY & INCLUSION 2020b. Guidance Brief: A disability inclusive COVID-19 response in Somalia, April 2020.
- HUMANITY & INCLUSION 2020c. Rapid Needs Assessment: An inclusive response to COVID-19 in Nepal. Humanity & Inclusion.
- HUONG, D. T. 2020. RAPID ASSESSMENT OF THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES IN VIETNAM. UNDP Vietnam.
- 121 2020. Impact of COVID-19 on the lives of people with disabilities: Insight and stories from Bangladesh and Kenya. Leonard Cheshire.
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020a. *Autistic students in South Africa: how has their life changed?* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available:
- https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/autism-sa-covid19 [Accessed 12/10/2020]. INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020b. Barriers in accessing information during COVID-19: Stories from the Arab region [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-arab-region [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020c. *COVID19 and disability in West Bengal, India: the story of two teachers* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available:









https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/west-bengal-covid19 [Accessed 12/10/2020].

INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020d. *COVID-19 and The Forgotten People (Indonesia)* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available:

https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-indonesia [Accessed 12/10/2020].

- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020e. COVID-19 in Mexico: the experience of deafblind children told by their mothers [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/deafblind-mexico</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020f. *COVID-19 in Rajasthan (India): What are women with disabilities' main challenges?* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-india-women</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020g. *Cut from the World: Pandemic experience for hard of hearing persons in Nepal* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/nepal-covid19 [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020h. From Leprosy to Coronavirus: a domino-like chain reaction of discrimination and exclusion [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/blog/leprosy-coronavirus-domino-chain-</u> reaction-discrimination-and-exclusion [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020i. *How absence of transport can be fatal: A Story from Uganda* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-story-uganda</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020j. *How is it to be a refugee with disability during the pandemic? Stories from Kenya to Myanmar* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-refugees</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020k. *Indigenous persons with disabilities in Mexico: completely forgotten during the pandemic* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/indigenous-mexico-covid</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020I. *More dangerous than the virus! Phobia and stigma experienced by persons with psychosocial disabilities in Nepal* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/nepal-stigmacovid19</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020m. *Stories from Pakistan: the already inadequate services are being cut due to COVID-19* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-pakistan</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020n. *The story of a deaf woman from Iraq who contracted COVID-19* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available:

https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid-19-iraq [Accessed 12/10/2020].

- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020o. *The Story of Rose Rokiatou: COVID-19 Pandemic and Financial Vulnerability of Persons with Disability in Mali* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/rose-covid19</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020p. *Two stories from South Africa: How a simple consultation could prevent current massive problems* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/SA-Covid19</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].









- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020q. *Voices from Colombia: Two Women with Physical Disabilities share their COVID Experience* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid-colombia</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020r. Voices of some under-represented groups from Uganda [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/blog/voices-some-under-represented-groups-uganda</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL DISABILITY ALLIANCE. 2020s. *When accessible information is far from a reality: Zimbabwe during COVID-19* [Online]. International Disability Alliance. Available: <u>https://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/covid19-story-zimbabwe</u> [Accessed 12/10/2020].
- INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION 2020a. Disability inclusion in company responses to COVID-19: Results of a survey among National Business and Disability Networks and their members. International Labour Organization.
- INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION 2020b. Policy Brief: COVID-19 and the World of Work: Ensuring the inclusion of persons with disabilities at all stages of the response. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND. 2020. *Policy Responses to COVID-19: Policy Tracker* [Online]. International Monetary Fund. Available: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19</u> [Accessed 13/11/2020 2020].
- INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR MIGRATION 2019. World Migration Report 2020. Geneva, Switzerland: IOM UN Migration.
- IRSHAD, H., MUMTAZ, Z. & LEVAY, A. 2012. Long-term gendered consequences of permanent disabilities caused by the 2005 Pakistan earthquake. *Disasters*, 36, 452-464.
- JAFFEE, L. J. 2016. Disrupting global disability frameworks: settler-colonialism and the geopolitics of disability in Palestine/Israel. *Disability & Society*, 31, 116-130.
- JALALI, M., SHAHABI, S., LANKARANI, K. B., KAMALI, M. & MOJGANI, P. 2020. COVID-19 and disabled people: perspectives from Iran. *Disability & Society*, 35, 844-847.
- JONES, L. & TULLOCH, O. 2020. COVID-19: Why Are Prisons a Particular Risk, and What Can Be Done to Mitigate This?
- JONES, N., MAŁACHOWSKA, A., GUGLIELMI, S., ALAM, F., ABU HAMAD, B., ALHEIWIDI, S. & YADETE, W. 2020. 'I have nothing to feed my family...' Covid-19 risk pathways for adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries. London: Gender and Adolescence: Global Evidence.
- KHATTAB, N. & MAHMUD, H. 2019. Migration in a turbulent time: perspectives from the global South. *Migration and Development*, 8, 1-6.
- KING, J., EDWARDS, N., WATLING, H. & HAIR, S. 2019. Barriers to disability-inclusive disaster management in the Solomon Islands: Perspectives of people with disability. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 34, 459-466.
- KRISHNAN, I., MELLO, G., KOK, S., SABAPATHY, S., MUNIAN, S., CHING, H., KANDASAMY, P., RAMALINGAM, S., BASKARAN, S. & KANAN, V. 2020. Challenges Faced by Hearing Impairment Students During COVID-19. *Malaysian Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities* (*MJSSH*). 5, 106 - 116.
- LAKNER, C., YONZAN, N., MAHLER, D. G., CASTENADA AGUILAR, R. A., WU, H. & FLEURY, M. 2020. Updated estimates of the impact of COVID-19 on global poverty: The effect of new data [Online]. World Bank Blogs. Available: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/updatedestimates-impact-covid-19-global-poverty-effect-newdata?token=d3c7288f257b662e819adb237c06033e [Accessed 11/01/2021].</u>
- LIANG, L. L., REN, H., CAO, R. L., HU, Y. Y., QIN, Z. Y., LI, C. N. & MEI, S. L. 2020. The Effect of COVID-19 on Youth Mental Health. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 91, 841-852.









LIGHT FOR THE WORLD 2020. Coronavirus and Disability: Let's talk. Light for the World.

- LUND, E. M. 2020. Interpersonal Violence Against People With Disabilities: Additional Concerns and Considerations in the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 65, 199-205.
- MAJOKO, T. & DUDU, A. 2020. Parents' strategies for home educating their children with Autism Spectrum Disorder during the COVID-19 period in Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*.
- MAŁACHOWSKA, A., AL ABBADI, T., AL AMAIREH, W., BANIOWEDA, K., AL HEIWIDI, S. & JONES, N. 2020. Exploring the impacts of covid-19 on adolescents in Jordan's refugee camps and host communities. *Listening to young people's voices under covid-19*. Gender & Adolescence: Global Evidence.
- MANDERSON, L. & WAHLBERG, A. 2020. Chronic Living in a Communicable World. *Medical Anthropology*, 39, 428-439.
- MARMOT, M., FRIEL, S., BELL, R., HOUWELING, T. A. J. & TAYLOR, S. 2008. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *The Lancet*, 372, 1661-9.
- MARSH, S., RYAN, F. & SABBAGH, D. 2021. Charities urge clarity over who qualifies for next UK vaccine wave [Online]. The Guardian. Available: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/feb/12/charities-urge-clarity-over-who-</u> gualifies-for-next-uk-vaccine-wave [Accessed 23/02/2021].
- MASON, H. 2016. A second chance at schooling for pregnant teenagers in Ebola-affected Sierra Leone [Online]. UNICEF. Available: <u>https://www.unicef.org/stories/second-chance-schooling-pregnant-teenagers-sierra-leone</u> [Accessed 05/01/2021 2020].
- MCCLAIN-NHLAPO, C., SINGH, R. K., MARTIN, A., ALASUUTARI, H., BABOO, N., CAMERON, S., HAYES, A., JOHNSTONE, C., MALADWALA, A., MCGEOWN, J., RICHLER, D., SINGAL, N. & TUCKER, M. 2020. Pivoting to Inclusion: Leveraging Lessons from the COVID-19 Crisis for Learners with Disabilities. *Other Education Study*. Washington, DC: World Bank Group.
- MCKINNEY, E. L., MCKINNEY, V. & SWARTZ, L. 2020. COVID-19, disability and the context of healthcare triage in South Africa: Notes in a time of pandemic. *African Journal of Disability*, 9.
- MEANEY-DAVIS, J. 2020. The financial and economic impacts of COVID-19 on people with disabilities in low- and middle-income countries. *Disability Inclusion Helpdesk Report* UK Aid Inclusive Futures.
- MEANEY-DAVIS, J., LEE, H. & CORBY, N. 2020. The impacts of COVID-19 on people with disabilities: a rapid review. London, UK: UK Aid Inclusive Futures.
- MHIRIPIRI, N. A. & MIDZI, R. 2020. Fighting for survival: persons with disabilities' activism for the mediatisation of COVID-19 information. *Media International Australia*.
- MILLS, A. 2014. Health Care Systems in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370, 552-557.
- MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE AND LIVESTOCK DEVELOPMENT 2020. The Impact of COVID-19 on Households in Nepal. Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development.
- NATH, P. & GOSLING, L. 2020. Putting equality, inclusion and rights at the centre of a COVID-19 water, sanitation and hygiene response [Online]. Water Aid. Available: <u>https://washmatters.wateraid.org/blog/putting-equality-inclusion-and-rights-at-centre-ofcovid-19-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-response</u> [Accessed 16/10/2020 2020].
- NATIONAL CENTRE FOR PROMOTION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR DISABLED PEOPLE (NCPEDP) 2020. LOCKED DOWN and LEFT BEHIND: A Report on the Status of Persons with Disabilities in India During the COVID. New Delhi, India: National Centre for Promotion of Employment for Disabled People (NCPEDP).









NATIONAL FEDERATION OF THE DISABLED NEPAL 2020. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic and Lockdown On Persons with Disabilities: A Rapid Assessment Report. Vrikutimandap, Kathmandu, Nepal: National Federation of the Disabled Nepal.

OECD 2020. Realising the Potential of Primary Health Care. Paris: OECD Health Policy Studies.

- ORACH, C. G. 2009. Health equity: challenges in low income countries. *African health sciences*, 9 Suppl 2, S49-S51.
- PAKJOUEI, S., ARYANKHCSAL, A., KAMALI, M., SEYCDIN, H. & HEIDARI, M. 2020. Positive effects of earthquake from the perspective of people with physical disability in Iran. *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment*.
- PANDA, A., MOHAPATRA, K., ODISHA, P. N., GUJARAT, N. P. & TELANGANA, B. S. 2020. COVID 19 and Impact of Lockdown on Women with Disabilities in India. Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India: International Disability Alliance.
- PEARCE, E. 2020. Disability Considerations in GBV Programming during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Gender-Based Violence AoR.
- PERTEK, S., PHILLIMORE, J. & MCKNIGHT, P. 2020. Forced migration, SGBV and COVID-19: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on forced migrant survivors of SGBV. Birmingham: University of Birmingham, Refugee Women Connect.
- PHAM, C. 2020. Needs Assessment: Impact of COVID-19 on People with Disabilities and their Families in Jordan, April 2020. Humanity & Inclusion.
- PINEDA, V. S. & CORBURN, J. 2020. Disability, Urban Health Equity, and the Coronavirus Pandemic: Promoting Cities for All. *Journal of Urban Health-Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 97, 336-341.
- POUDEL, K. & SUBEDI, P. 2020. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on socioeconomic and mental health aspects in Nepal. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 66, 748-755.
- PREGEL, A. & LE FANU, G. 2020. Including people with disabilities in responses to the COVID-19 pandemic: Guidance for development partners May 2020. Sightsavers.
- QI, F. & HU, L. J. 2020. Including people with disability in the COVID-19 outbreak emergency preparedness and response in China. *Disability & Society*, 35, 848-853.
- QI, F. & WANG, Q. 2020. Guaranteeing the health rights of people with disabilities in the COVID-19 pandemic: Perspectives from China. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 13, 2357-2363.
- QURESHI, O. & SCHERER, N. 2020. Evidence Brief: How do we support mental health and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic? London, UK: Disability Evidence Portal, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.
- REINHARDT, J. D., ZHANG, X., VAN DYKE, C., EHRMANN, C., LI, L., ZHAO, Z., ZHOU, M. & LI, H. 2020. Post-traumatic stress disorder in a population of 2008 Wenchuan earthquake survivors with disabilities: the role of environmental barriers. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1-9.
- RICHARDSON, D., CEBOTARI, V., CARRARO, A. & DAMOAH, K. A. 2020. Supporting Families and Children Beyond COVID-19: Social protection in Southern and Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Florence, Italy: UNICEF.
- ROHWERDER, B. 2020a. Disability Inclusive Development: Nepal Situational Analysis.: Inclusive Futures, Institute of Development Studies.
- ROHWERDER, B. 2020b. Disability Inclusive Development: Kenya Situational Analysis.: Inclusive Futures, Institute of Development Studies.
- ROHWERDER, B. 2020c. Disability Inclusive Development: Tanzania Situational Analysis.: Inclusive Futures, Institute of Development Studies.
- ROHWERDER, B. 2020d. Social impacts and responses related to COVID-19 in low- and middleincome countries. *K4D Emerging Issues Report 35.* Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies.








- SABATELLO, M. 2020. People With Disabilities in COVID-19: Fixing Our Priorities. *American Journal* of Bioethics, 20, 187-191.
- SAKELLARIOU, D., MALFITANO, A. P. S. & ROTAROU, E. S. 2020. Disability inclusiveness of government responses to COVID-19 in South America: a framework analysis study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 19, 1-10.
- SAMAILA, D., MAILAFIA, I. A., AYANJOKE, K. M. & JOSHUA, C. E. 2020. Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on People with Disabilities and its Implications on Special Education Practice in Nigeria. *International Journal of Innovative Science and Research Technology*, 5.
- SARAN, A., WHITE, H. & KUPER, H. 2020. Evidence and gap map of studies assessing the effectiveness of interventions for people with disabilities in low-and middle-income countries. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 16.
- SCULLY, J. L. 2020. Disability, Disablism, and COVID-19 Pandemic Triage. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*.
- SENJAM, S. 2020. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on people living with visual disability. *Indian journal of ophthalmology,* 68, 1367-1370.
- SHAKESPEARE, T. 2019. Disability in Developing Countries. *In:* WATSON, N. & VEHMAS, S. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Disability Studies.* Abingdon, United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis Group.
- SHRESTHA, N. 2020. IMPACT OF COVID-19 Lives of persons with and without Disabilities. Disability Holistic Development Service Organization-Nepal.
- SINGH, J. A., BANDEWAR, S. V. S. & BUKUSI, E. A. 2020a. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic response on other health research. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 98, 625-631.
- SINGH, S. 2020. Disability ethics in the coronavirus crisis. *Journal of family medicine and primary care*, 9, 2167-2171.
- SINGH, S., ROY, D., SINHA, K., PARVEEN, S., SHARMA, G. & JOSHI, G. 2020b. Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: A narrative review with recommendations. *Psychiatry Res*, 293.
- SMITH, E. M., TORO HERNANDEZ, M. L., EBUENYI, I. D., SYURINA, E. V., BARBARESCHI, G., BEST, K. L., DANEMAYER, J., OLDFREY, B., IBRAHIM, N., HOLLOWAY, C. & MACLACHLAN, M. 2020.
 Assistive Technology Use and Provision During COVID-19: Results From a Rapid Global Survey. International journal of health policy and management.
- STARTS OF HOPE SOCIETY FOR THE EMPOWERMENT OF WOMEN WITH DISABILITIES 2020. Position Paper: The situation of women and girls with disabilities worsened under the emergency state. Starts of Hope Society for the Empowerment of Women with Disabilities.
- THOMPSON, S. 2020. Disability Inclusive Development: Bangladesh Situational Analysis.: Inclusive Futures, Institute of Development Studies.
- THORPE, J., VINEY, K., HENSING, G. & LÖNNROTH, K. 2020. Income security during periods of ill health: a scoping review of policies, practice and coverage in low-income and middle-income countries. *BMJ Global Health*, 5.
- TOQUERO, C. M. D. 2020. Inclusion of People with Disabilities amid COVID-19: Laws, Interventions, Recommendations. *Multidisciplinary Journal of Educational Research*, 10, 158-177.
- UN WOMEN 2020. COVID-19: Gendered Impacts of the Pandemic in Palestine and Implications for Policy and Programming: Findings of a Rapid Gender Analysis of COVID-19 in Palestine. *Covid-19 response.* UN Women.
- UN WOMEN AFRICA. 2020. Protection of Women and Girls with Disabilities during COVID-19: A Priority! [Online]. UN Women Africa. Available: <u>https://africa.unwomen.org/en/news-and-events/stories/2020/05/protection-of-women-and-girls-with-disabilities-during-covid-19</u> [Accessed 13/10/2020 2020].
- UNDRR 2020. UNDRR Americas & Caribbean COVID-19 Brief: People with disabilities in the face of COVID-19 in the Americas and the Caribbean UNDRR.









- UNESCO BANGKOK. 2020. Empowering students with disabilities during the COVID-19 crisis [Online]. UNESCO Bangkok. Available: <u>https://bangkok.unesco.org/content/empowering-students-disabilities-during-covid-19-crisis</u> [Accessed 15/10/2020 2020].
- UNHCR 2020. Global Trends Forced Displacement in 2019. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees,.
- UNICEF 2020a. COVID-19 response: Considerations for Children and Adults with Disabilities. UNICEF.
- UNICEF 2020b. Ensuring an inclusive return to school for children with disabilities. UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Region COVID-19 Technical Guidance.
- UNITED NATIONS. *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) Article 1 Purpose* [Online]. United Nations. Available:

https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-personswith-disabilities/article-1-purpose.html [Accessed 15/02/2021].

UNITED NATIONS. 2020a. COVID-19 Outbreak and Persons with Disabilities [Online]. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affraids. Available:

https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/covid-19.html [Accessed 7 Dec 2020].

- UNITED NATIONS 2020b. Policy Brief: A Disability-Inclusive Response to COVID-19. United Nations.
- UNITED NATIONS 2020c. Policy Brief: COVID-19 and People on the Move. United Nations,.
- UNITED NATIONS 2020d. Policy Brief: COVID-19 and the Need for Action on Mental Health.
- UNITED NATIONS ESCAP 2020. Ensuring Disability Rights and Inclusion in the Response to COVID-19. United Nations ESCAP.
- UNITED NATIONS ESCWA & WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2020. THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 on Older Persons in the Arab Region. United Nations ESCWA, World Health Organization.
- UNITED NATIONS HUMAN RIGHTS 2020. COVID-19 AND THE RIGHTS OF PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES: GUIDANCE. United Nations Human Rights.
- UNPRPD 2020. Initial overview of specific social protection measures for persons with disabilities and their families in response to COVID 19 crisis. UNPRPD.
- WAGSTAFF, A., BREDENKAMP, C. & BUISMAN, L. R. 2014. Progress on Global Health Goals: Are the Poor Being Left Behind? *The World Bank Research Observer*, 29, 137-162.
- WALDMAN, H. B., RADER, R. & PERLMAN, S. P. 2020. What Are We Learning? *Exceptional Parent*, 50, 17-19.
- WASHINGTON GROUP ON DISABILITY STATISTICS 2020. Using the Washington Group Tools to Assess the Impact of COVID-19 on Persons with Disability. Hyattsville, Maryland.
- WISE, J. 2021. Long covid: WHO calls on countries to offer patients more rehabilitation. *BMJ*, 372, n405.
- WOMEN ENABLED INTERNATIONAL 2020. COVID-19 at the Intersection ofGender and Disability: Findings of a Global Human Rights Survey, March to April 2020. Washington, D.C.: Women Enabled International.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2020a. ApartTogether survey: preliminary overview of refugees and migrants self-reported impact of COVID-19. *Geneva, Switzerland*.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2020b. Disability considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2020c. WHO Sage Roadmap For Priotizing Uses of COVID-19 Vaccines in the Context of Limited Supply
- XAFIS, V. 2020. 'What is Inconvenient for You is Life-saving for Me': How Health Inequities are playing out during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Asian Bioethics Review*, 12, 223-234.
- YAP, J., CHAUDHRY, V., JHA, C. K., MANI, S. & MITRA, S. 2020. Are responses to the pandemic inclusive? A rapid virtual audit of COVID-19 press briefings in LMICs. World Development, 136.









ZAYED, Y., GALARZA, R., ACUNA GONZALEZ, M. P. & DARD, B. 2020. AMPLIFYING VOICES: OUR LIVES, OUR SAY Learning from COVID-19 through the experiences of blind and partially sighted persons across the world. Toronto, Canada: World Blind Union.



